
 
 
 
 
 

 

 
 

 

Summons  
and 

Agenda 
 

Monday 13 January 2020 

 
Managing Director 

Friday 3 January 2020 



 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

This page is intentionally left blank 



 

 
 

Civic Centre, Home Gardens, Dartford, Kent, DA1 1DR 
 

To: All Members of the Dartford Borough Council 
 

A meeting of the Council will be held on: 
 

Date:  Monday 13 January 2020 
Time:  7.00 pm 
Venue: Civic Centre, Dartford 

 
The Agenda is set out below: 

 
A G E N D A  

1. Prayers: Reverend Helen Reeves   
 

2. Apologies for Absence  
 

 
 

 To receive apologies for absence 
 

 

3. Declarations of Interest  
 

 
 

 To receive declarations of interest from Members including the 
terms(s) of the Grant of Dispensation (if any) by the Audit Board 
or Managing Director. 
 

 

4. Minutes  
 

(Pages 1 - 12) 
 

 To approve the minutes of the General Assembly of the Council 
held on 7 October 2019 as a correct record. 
 

 

5. Mayor's Announcements   
 

6. Leader's Announcements  
 

 
 

 To receive announcements from the Leader of the Council 
 

 

7. Questions from Political Group Leaders  
 

 
 

 To consider any questions (from the Political Group Leaders) to 
the Leader/Cabinet submitted in accordance with Standing Order 
14. 

 



 

8. Motions  
 

 
 

 To consider any Motions submitted in accordance with Standing 
Order 10. 
 

 

9. Urgent Items  
 

 
 

 The Mayor will announce his decision as to whether there are 
any urgent items. 
 

 

To consider any reports to the General Assembly of Council by other Committees, Boards, 
Panels and Officers. 

10. References from other Committees (if any)   
 

11. Setting of the Council Tax Base for the Borough for 2020/21  
 

(Pages 13 - 26) 
 

 To determine the tax base for the whole area of Dartford Borough 
and for those parts relating to Parishes in accordance with 
section 35 of the Local Government Finance Act 1992. 
 

 

12. Financial  Contributions to Parish and Town Councils 
2020/21  

 

(Pages 27 - 32) 
 

 To agree the level of financial contributions to be paid to Parish 
and Town Councils in 2020/21. 
 

 

13. Report and Recommendations by the Independent 
Remuneration Panel  

 

(Pages 33 - 54) 
 

 To consider the report of the Independent Remuneration Panel 
relating to the Scheme of Members Allowances and other 
Member support. 
 

 

14. Joint Transportation Board Agreement with Kent County 
Council and Parish Representation  

 

(Pages 55 - 64) 
 

 To adopt the proposed new agreement governing the work of the 
Joint Transportation Board (JTB) with Kent County Council and 
to appoint two Parish Council representatives for 2019/20. 
 
 
 

 



15. Adoption of the International Holocaust Remembrance 
Alliance (IHRA) Working Definition of Antisemitism  

 

(Pages 65 - 68) 
 

 To seek approval to adopt the International Remembrance 
Alliance definition of antisemitism. 
 

 

16. Reserved Minutes  
 

(Pages 69 - 86) 
 

 To consider any of the minutes of the following Cabinet meetings 
reserved in accordance with Standing Order 16: 
 
(a) for full debate by Political Groups on the Council; 
(b) by Ward Members.  
 
Cabinet 
 
31 October 2019 
5 December 2019 
 

 

 
  

 
 
 

Graham Harris 
Managing Director 

  

  

  



This page is intentionally left blank



1 

CHAIRMAN’S 

INITIALS 

DARTFORD BOROUGH COUNCIL 
 

GENERAL ASSEMBLY OF THE COUNCIL 
 

MINUTES of the proceedings of the meeting of the General Assembly of the Council 
held on Monday 7 October 2019. 

 
PRESENT: 
 

 

 

The Mayor Councillor R S L Perfitt 

The Deputy Mayor Councillor R M Currans 
 
 

Councillor Mrs A D Allen, MBE 
Councillor I D Armitt JP 
Councillor A E D Barham 
Councillor E H Ben Moussa 
Councillor S H Brown 
Councillor J Burrell 
Councillor D Butler 
Councillor S P Butterfill 
Councillor L A Canham 
Councillor P Cutler 
Councillor M J Davis 
Councillor L H K Edie 
Councillor B Garden 
Councillor A Gaskin 
Councillor R Gosine 
Councillor S N Gosine 
Councillor K J Grehan 
Councillor D A Hammock 
Councillor P M Harman 
 

Councillor D E Hunnisett 
Councillor R A S Jones 
Councillor J A Kite, MBE 
Councillor A R Lloyd 
Councillor C S McLean 
Councillor D J Mote 
Councillor D T Nicklen 
Councillor A J Oakley-Dow 
Councillor V Oguntope 
Councillor T Oliver 
Councillor Mrs J A Ozog 
Councillor M I Peters 
Councillor D J Reynolds 
Councillor L J Reynolds 
Councillor Mrs R F Storey 
Councillor D Swinerd 
Councillor Mrs P A Thurlow 
Councillor R J Wells 
 

 
ABSENT: 
 

 

Councillor T A Maddison 
Councillor A S Sandhu, MBE 
Councillor C J Shippam 
 

 
 

43. PRAYERS: REVEREND HELEN REEVES  
 
The Mayor’s Chaplain led the Council in prayer. 
 

44. APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE  
 
Apologies for absence were submitted on behalf of Councillors Maddison, 
Sandhu and Shippam. 
 

Page 1 Agenda Item 4



 

CHAIRMAN’S 

INITIALS 

45. DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST  
 
There were no declarations of interests. 
 

46. MINUTES  
 
 RESOLVED: 
 
That the minutes of the meeting of the General Assembly of the Council held 
on 15 July 2019 be confirmed as an accurate record. 
 

47. MAYOR'S ANNOUNCEMENTS  
 
The Mayor announced that he had attended a number of functions in recent 
weeks including an event at Castle Hill Community Centre organised by the 
Kent Telugu Community on 5th October where he had been presented with a 
trophy which was now on display in the Mayor’s Parlour. 
 

48. LEADER'S ANNOUNCEMENTS  
 
The Leader of the Council made the following announcements: 
 

 Public Consultation on Urgent Care Services 
 
The Leader of the Council advised Members that a consultation document 
from the Dartford, Gravesham and Swanley Clinical Commissioning Group on 
options for improving NHS urgent care services across the CCG area had 
been placed in their pigeonholes. He encouraged Members to respond to the 
public consultation on these important services.    
 

 Festival of Light 
 
The Leader reminded Members that the Festval of Light would take place in 
Dartford on 18th October and said that this was a wonderful celebration of 
colour and lights which was particularly enjoyed by many children and 
encouraged Members to attend. He thanked Gurvinder Sandher, Artistic 
Director of Cohesion Plus and the Kent Equality Cohesion Council for their 
work in organising the event. 
 

 Forthcoming Councillor’s Weddings 
 
The Leader of the Council congratulated Councillor Richard Wells on his 
forthcoming marriage to Katie on 19th October and Councillor David Butler on 
his marriage to Kallum on 26th October. He and Members of the Council 
wished both couples every future happiness.  
 

49. QUESTIONS FROM POLITICAL GROUP LEADERS  
 
The following questions were submitted by the Shadow Leader of the Council:  

Question 1 

Residents have conveyed their deep concerns on how the situation of a no 
deal Brexit would impact on their lives. Dartford Borough Council have been 

Page 2Agenda Item 4



GENERAL ASSEMBLY OF THE COUNCIL 
 

MONDAY 7 OCTOBER 2019 
 
 

3 

given £150,000 to spend if this eventuality occurs. In order for the council to 
be transparent and provide reassurance, how will this be used? 

Question 2 

What are DBC's contingency plans for a no deal Brexit? 

Question 3 

As many councils celebrate the 31st Black History Month with events, 
monuments and educational opportunities etc, will DBC take this opportunity 
next year to also celebrate Black History month and celebrate the BAME 
residents who also put Dartford on the map such as Adam Gemili? 

 
In accordance with Standing Order 14 the questions and answers, including 
any supplementary questions and answers, are recorded in a book kept for 
this purpose in the Members’ Area. 
 

50. MOTIONS  
 
Councillor K J Grehan moved the following motion of which she had given 
notice in accordance with Standing Order 10: 
 
‘That this Council notes:   
 

● That analysis of the 2018 Local Election results by the Fawcett Society 

found that only 34% of councillors in England are women, up 1% since 

2017;  

 
● Of the seats that were up for election in 2018, 38% went to women, up 

just 3 percentage points on 2014 when these seats were last 

contested;   

 
● That across England, Labour has improved its representation since 

seats were last up for grabs, with 45% women compared with 40% in 

2014, Liberal Democrat representation up from 34% to 36% whilst the 

Conservative Party saw a fall from 31% to 29% in the share of its 

councillors who are female;    

 
● That Dartford Borough Council currently consists of 15 women (35.7%) 

and 27 men (64.3%); 

 
● That the role of a councillor should be open to all, regardless of their 

background, and that introducing a parental leave policy is a step 

towards encouraging a wider range of people to become councillors, 

and is also a step to encourage existing councillors who may want to 

start a family to remain as councillors;   

 

Page 3 Agenda Item 4



 

CHAIRMAN’S 

INITIALS 

● That parental leave must apply to parents regardless of their gender, 

and that it should also cover adoption leave to support those parents 

who choose to adopt; and 

 
● That a parental leave policy will give certainty to councillors and 

councils alike when a councillor needs to take time off after the birth or 

adoption of a child, and the lack of parental leave would not be a 

deterrent to someone becoming a councillor. 

 
That this Council resolves:   
 

● To adopt the parental leave policy drafted by the LGA Labour Group’s 

Women’s Taskforce to give all councillors an entitlement to parental 

leave after giving birth or adopting;  and 

 
● To ensure that councillors with children and other caring commitments 

are supported as appropriate.’  

 
In introducing the report Councillor Grehan stressed the importance of 

parental leave in encouraging more people to put themselves forward to be 

Councillors. At present only 37% of the Councillors in Dartford were women 

and the average age of Councillors across the country was 60. She said that 

Labour had worked hard to encourage more women to serve as Councillors 

and the LGA Labour Group’s Women’s Taskforce had developed a policy on 

parental leave that would provide assurance and certainties for those people 

contemplating parenthood or adoption. She said that whilst this could be 

considered by the Independent Remuneration Panel the Council could act 

decisively and without delay to adopt the policy now as 24 other local 

authorities had already done. 

 

The motion was seconded by Councillor V Oguntope. 

 

Councillor J A Kite MBE moved, that in accordance with Standing Order 

10(6)(a) the motion should stand referred to the independent Remuneration 

Panel for consideration as part of its ongoing review of the Scheme of 

Members Allowances and other support. He stressed that it was the Council’s 

practice that any change in remuneration would undergo a well-defined and 

orderly process of consideration and that it was not the Council’s practice to 

agree such matters on an ad hoc basis which would result in chaotic and 

incoherent decision making.  If the Council were to determine this issue it 

would send a bad message to the Independent Remuneration Panel and 

undermine the Panel’s work. For these reasons he was proposing that this 

matter should be referred to the Panel which could then consider the matter 

and recommend accordingly when it reported back to the GAC in December. 

 

Councillor S Gosine raised a point of order. He said that the Independent 

Remuneration Panel was purely an advisory panel and could not make policy, 

Page 4Agenda Item 4



GENERAL ASSEMBLY OF THE COUNCIL 
 

MONDAY 7 OCTOBER 2019 
 
 

5 

which was the remit of the General Assembly of the Council so he questioned 

whether this matter fell within the Panel’s terms of reference. He also recalled 

that the last GAC meeting had created a new allowance for the Chairman of 

the Strategic Housing Board and that there seemed to be an inconsistency of 

approach. 

 

The Strategic Director (Internal Services) advised that although the 
Independent Remuneration Panel primarily dealt with establishing the types 
and levels of allowances for Councillors it also had a clear wider remit in 
terms of recommending on other aspects of Member support and gathering 
evidence on ‘the various roles and responsibilities of elected Members and 
the commitment of time and other resources involved’  and ‘the need to attract 
and retain elected Members of the highest calibre who are representative of 
the local population, particularly in terms of race, age and gender’.  Both of 
the current recommendations contained in the motion were within the remit of 
the IRP. The point of order was therefore refuted. 
  

The motion to refer the matter to the Independent Remuneration Panel was 

seconded by Councillor S Brown, put to the vote and carried. 

 

 RESOLVED: 

 

That the above motion proposed by Councillor K J Grehan and seconded by 

Councillor V Oguntope stands referred, without further discussion, to the 

Independent Remuneration Panel for consideration.    

 

 

Councillor J A Kite MBE moved the following motion of which he had given 
notice in accordance with Standing Order 10: 
 

‘That this Council recognises the serious impact of climate change and 

accepts that rising global temperatures presents a clear and present threat to 

our world. We are facing a climate emergency. 

 

The Council further recognises that all governments (national, regional and 

local) have a duty to act but feels that progress in Dartford should not be 

constrained by the actions of the slowest. Our town and its people have a part 

to play in securing a sustainable future and this Council must not only be a 

force for change in itself, but must inspire and encourage change in others. 

 

It welcomes the Government’s commitment to meet the Intergovernmental 

Panel on Climate Change target to cut greenhouse gas emissions to net zero 

by 2050 but feels that, locally, we should aspire to act faster, and go further, 

to embed multiple actions across our community and local economy. Some 

measures may be quicker to yield results than others but the Council aspires 

Page 5 Agenda Item 4



 

CHAIRMAN’S 

INITIALS 

to see the effects of climate change tackled earlier than either the 2050 

national target or the 2030 date proposed by some. 

 

It commits to pursuing measures that are deliverable, measureable and 

practical. It will inspire and promote efforts - small and large – to address 

climate change throughout our local community. It recognises that the 

interests of the environment are served not by empty promises or by setting 

one legitimate interest against another but by securing collaboration and a 

genuine commitment to change throughout the Borough and amongst our 

residents, neighbourhoods, businesses and wider partners. It will co-operate 

with other authorities at every tier. 

 

Dartford knows more than most about the particular challenges posed by 

rising traffic volumes and the impact on local air quality. We commit to 

increase our efforts to work with highways partners to reduce car use, resolve 

traffic issues in pollution hotspots and create workable, popular solutions 

within residential communities to prioritise pedestrians, cyclists and calmer, 

safer traffic. 

 

It commits to make enlightened choices in our own supply chain and 

encourage other organisations to do the same with the aim of safeguarding 

resources and reducing pollution. 

 

It notes the successful inauguration of the Leader’s cross-party Working 

Group on Climate Change and commits to developing this group to include 

informed and representative local voices. 

 

Finally, this Council sets itself the goal of making a contribution to tackling 

climate change to match any comparable local authority’.        

 
In introducing the motion Councillor Kite said that climate change represented 
a clear and present threat and elsewhere thinking was clouded by politics, 
entrenched and impractical positions and by the differing views of scientists 
as to target dates for reducing carbon emissions to zero, with some arguing 
for a target of 2050 and others 2030. It was important for the Council to take a 
lead and there were some things that could be achieved with the support of 
local people, businesses and contractors more quickly than these target dates 
whilst other measures would take longer. It was important to take people and 
the economy on a journey to embrace these issues and to keep moving 
forward, encouraging and educating people to change behaviours with an aim 
of going as far and as fast as possible and doing the things that were 
practical, measurable and deliverable. He contrasted this constructive 
approach to that taken by the Extinction Rebellion group and quoted from a 
letter that he had received from them demanding that the Council should 
baseline the Council’s carbon and ecological footprint in line with its Climate 
Emergency declaration, commit to sourcing its electricity supply from a 100% 
renewable provider and insist that its pension fund divested from any fossil 
fuel investments. It had warned that if the Council did not comply with their 

Page 6Agenda Item 4



GENERAL ASSEMBLY OF THE COUNCIL 
 

MONDAY 7 OCTOBER 2019 
 
 

7 

demands within 3 weeks it would seek to disrupt the Council’s business. He 
expressed his anger that a non-elected campaign group should seek to 
dictate action to a democratically elected and responsible Council in this 
manner and assured them that the Council’s business would not be disrupted 
by their activity and would carry on regardless. He described his own ‘switch-
on’ moment when, after undertaking some research whilst on holiday, he 
reached the conclusion that action needed to be taken. He had called the 
Shadow Leader to discuss this and found that they had been in total 
agreement and that the Labour Group had also been looking at this. There 
were subsequently positive discussions between all three group leaders. 
There was the opportunity to take forward measures that were practical, 
measureable and deliverable and to work with those with legitimate interests 
to deliver a better environment not only through the delivery of council 
services but by using the enormous power that the Council had to influence 
others and to reach out to the communities. Whilst recognising other target 
dates he wanted to move as fast as possible and to make Dartford the leading 
authority in Kent on dealing with climate change. This was not about T-shirts, 
placards and causing disruption to people going about their legitimate 
business, which merely divided and angered people rather than bringing them 
together behind this. In Dartford the political groups were committed to 
working together to do what needed to be done and he commended the other 
group leaders for their support and Councillor Edie who had worked closely 
with him in developing the motion. 
 
The motion was seconded by the Deputy Shadow Leader, Councillor L H K 
Edie, who said that the effects of climate change were already being seen 
worldwide with rising global temperatures causing extreme weather patterns, 
crop failures and plant and animal extinctions. The last few years summers 
had been some of the hottest on record and Kent was likely to suffer severe 
impacts and it was important for Dartford to come together to do what it could 
to deal with climate change. 
 
The Leader of the Swanscombe and Greenhithe Residents’ Association fully 
supported working in partnership to deal with this issue and wanted to do so 
in practical ways that could start to have an impact. Starting small but 
gathering momentum and having a growing impact across communities. 
 
The motion was put to the vote and carried unanimously. 
 
 RESOLVED: 
 
That this Council recognises the serious impact of climate change and 

accepts that rising global temperatures presents a clear and present threat to 

our world. We are facing a climate emergency. 

 

The Council further recognises that all governments (national, regional and 

local) have a duty to act but feels that progress in Dartford should not be 

constrained by the actions of the slowest. Our town and its people have a part 

Page 7 Agenda Item 4



 

CHAIRMAN’S 

INITIALS 

to play in securing a sustainable future and this Council must not only be a 

force for change in itself, but must inspire and encourage change in others. 

 

It welcomes the Government’s commitment to meet the Intergovernmental 

Panel on Climate Change target to cut greenhouse gas emissions to net zero 

by 2050 but feels that, locally, we should aspire to act faster, and go further, 

to embed multiple actions across our community and local economy. Some 

measures may be quicker to yield results than others but the Council aspires 

to see the effects of climate change tackled earlier than either the 2050 

national target or the 2030 date proposed by some. 

 

It commits to pursuing measures that are deliverable, measureable and 

practical. It will inspire and promote efforts - small and large – to address 

climate change throughout our local community. It recognises that the 

interests of the environment are served not by empty promises or by setting 

one legitimate interest against another but by securing collaboration and a 

genuine commitment to change throughout the Borough and amongst our 

residents, neighbourhoods, businesses and wider partners. It will co-operate 

with other authorities at every tier. 

 

Dartford knows more than most about the particular challenges posed by 

rising traffic volumes and the impact on local air quality. We commit to 

increase our efforts to work with highways partners to reduce car use, resolve 

traffic issues in pollution hotspots and create workable, popular solutions 

within residential communities to prioritise pedestrians, cyclists and calmer, 

safer traffic. 

 

It commits to make enlightened choices in our own supply chain and 

encourage other organisations to do the same with the aim of safeguarding 

resources and reducing pollution. 

 

It notes the successful inauguration of the Leader’s cross-party Working 

Group on Climate Change and commits to developing this group to include 

informed and representative local voices. 

 

Finally, this Council sets itself the goal of making a contribution to tackling 
climate change to match any comparable local authority.      
 

51. URGENT ITEMS  
 
There were no urgent items. 
 

52. COUNCIL IN COMMITTEE  
 
It was moved by Councillor R S L Perfitt, seconded by Councillor J A Kite and 
 
 
 

Page 8Agenda Item 4



GENERAL ASSEMBLY OF THE COUNCIL 
 

MONDAY 7 OCTOBER 2019 
 
 

9 

RESOLVED: 
 
That in accordance with Standing Order 11(13) the General Assembly of the 
Council go into Committee and the rules of Procedures for Committees do 
apply. 

 
THE LEADER OF THE COUNCIL, COUNCILLOR J A KITE MBE, IN THE 
CHAIR 
 

53. REFERENCES FROM OTHER COMMITTEES (IF ANY)  
 
There were no references from other committees.  
 

54. CAPITAL PROGRAMME INCLUDING PRUDENTIAL INDICATORS - 
OUTTURN 2018/2019  
 
The Council considered a report on the final pre-audit figures for the 2018/19 
Capital Programme, the capital resources that were used to fund it and those 
resources which remained available to fund future investments and approved 
the carry forward of capital budgets into the 2019/20 financial year. 
 
 RESOLVED: 
 
That the capital budget set out in Appendix C to the report be carried forward 
into the 2019/20 financial year thereby increasing the total capital budget to 
£30.771M. 
 

55. CRIME AND DISORDER (OVERVIEW & SCRUTINY) COMMITTEE 
ANNUAL REPORT 2018-19  
 
The Council considered the work carried out by the Crime and Disorder 
(Overview and Scrutiny) Committee during 2018/19 which was described in its 
annual report. The Chairman of the Committee thanked the Members of the 
committee and officers for their input during the year and also thanked the 
Democratic Services Officer, David Hook, for his support for the committee’s 
work. He commended the report to the committee. 
 
Councillor Davis reminded Members of the importance of the Committee’s 
work in tackling crime and disorder in the Borough and highlighted that violent 
crime had increased with three violent crimes occurring every day.  
 
 RESOLVED: 
 
That the Crime and Disorder (Overview and Scrutiny) Committee Annual 
Report 2018-19 be noted. 
 

56. RE-CONVENING OF THE GENERAL ASSEMBLY OF THE COUNCIL  
 
It was moved by Councillor J A Kite, seconded by Councillor S Brown and 
 

Page 9 Agenda Item 4



 

CHAIRMAN’S 

INITIALS 

RESOLVED: 
 

That in accordance with Standing Order 11(14) the General Assembly of the 
Council now re-convene. 
 
THE MAYOR, COUNCILLOR R S L PERFITT, IN THE CHAIR 
 

57. RESERVED MINUTES  
 
The Mayor announced that one Cabinet minute had been reserved for debate 
in accordance with Standing Order 16(14)(1)(a). 
 

 Minute 39 – Review of Charging Periods for Highfield Road 
Car Parks – (Cabinet – 5 September 2019) 

 

The Shadow Leader explained that although he had reserved this minute for 
debate Councillor Jones wished to speak on the issue as a local Member.  
 
Councillor Jones said that a number of Members had registered concerns 
about parking in the vicinity of Highfield Road at the Cabinet Advisory Panel 
meeting on 2nd September. Since the introduction of the pay and display 
arrangements in the Highfield Road car park it was now little used and 
residents could not afford to pay £5 per day to park there. Much of the road 
opposite was covered by yellow lines and a number of residents had also 
spent money to introduce dropped curbs. All of these factors meant that there 
were serious problems for residents of Highfield Road and neighbouring 
streets who needed on-street parking and considerable frustration as a result. 
Whilst he recognised that there had been problems with abandoned vehicles 
in the car park before the introduction of charges he felt that the CAP meeting 
had recommended that spaces should be made available in the car park free 
of charge for local residents but that the Cabinet had instead decided to look 
at the introduction of a Resident’s Parking Scheme with an annual charge for 
permits. 
 
The Leader of the Council explained that the CAP had an important advisory 
role and that the CAP’s had been set up to ensure that all Members had an 
input to Cabinet decision making. He understood the situation in Highfield 
Road and the Council had quite rightly reviewed the position in light of 
resident’s views and the current demand on the car park following the 
introduction of pay and display charges. As a result the Council was 
considering the introduction of a resident’s parking scheme which would 
include reserving a number of spaces in the car park for residents who wished 
to buy a permit. This would be on the same basis as other residents’ parking 
schemes in the borough for which there was a £50 annual charge. The 
Council paid to operate and maintain car parks in the borough and it was 
important that this was done on a cost neutral basis and that residents using 
the car parks contributed towards these costs. It would not be right for the 
Council to provide these facilities to the owner occupiers opposite the car park 
on a free basis as there could be no preferential arrangements given that a 
charge was levied where other Residents’ Permit schemes operated in the 
Borough. The Cabinet had had regard to the views of the CAP and 
considered the various options available before making its decision.      
 

Page 10Agenda Item 4



GENERAL ASSEMBLY OF THE COUNCIL 
 

MONDAY 7 OCTOBER 2019 
 
 

11 

 
 
The meeting closed at 8.13 pm 

 

 

  
 
 
 

 MAYOR 
 
 

Page 11 Agenda Item 4



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 12



 

GENERAL ASSEMBLY OF THE COUNCIL 
13 JANUARY 2020 

 
 

SETTING OF COUNCIL TAX BASE FOR THE BOROUGH FOR 
2020/21 INCLUDING THOSE PARTS RELATING TO PARISHES 
 

 
1. Summary 

 
1.1 For the Council to determine the tax base for all its area and those 

parts relating to Parishes in accordance with section 35 of the Local 
Government Finance Act 1992. 

 
2. RECOMMENDATION  

 
2.1 That, subject to the matters contained in this report and in 

accordance with the Local Authorities (Calculation of Tax Base) 
Regulations 2012 and on the basis of the detailed calculations in 
Appendix A to the report, the amount calculated by the Dartford 
Borough Council as its tax base for the year 2020/21 shall be: 

            
                       
      £ 
For the whole of Dartford Borough:  38,756.93 
For parts of Dartford Borough: 

 
  

Bean Parish  563.16 
Darenth Parish  1,281.25 
Longfield and New Barn Parish  2,481.96 
Southfleet Parish  641.45 
Stone Parish  4,254.71 
Sutton-at-Hone and Hawley Parish  1,477.61 
Swanscombe and Greenhithe Town  4,481.78 
Wilmington Parish  3,002.32 

 

 

 
3. Background and Discussion 

 
3.1 The Local Government Finance Act 1992 sets down the criteria for 

the determination of the tax base.  
 

 3.2 The council tax base for the Borough of Dartford and for each parish 
must be calculated and determined by the Borough Council in the 
period between 1 December and 31 January in the year preceding 
that to which the tax base applies.  In the case of the major 
precepting authorities (see below), they must determine their own tax 
base for their area by reference to the tax base figures for those 
relevant parts making up the area, as calculated and notified to them. 

 

Page 13 Agenda Item 11



 

GENERAL ASSEMBLY OF THE COUNCIL 
13 JANUARY 2020 

 

  

3.3 The council tax base calculated in accordance with the regulations is 
used for the following purposes: 

 
I.  By Dartford Borough Council, the Kent County Council, Kent 

Police and Crime Commissioner and the Kent and Medway 
Towns Fire Authority in the calculation of the basic amounts of 
their council taxes. 

 
II.  By Dartford Borough Council, as the collection authority, in the 

calculation of the amounts payable to Kent County Council in 
respect of the county precept. 

 
III. By Dartford Borough Council, as the collection authority, in the 

calculation of the amounts payable to Kent Police and Crime 
Commissioner in respect of the police precept. 

 
IV. By Dartford Borough Council, as the collection authority, in the 

calculation of the amounts payable to Kent and Medway 
Towns Fire Authority in respect of the fire precept. 

 
V.  In the calculation of Dartford Borough Council's demand on 

the Collection Fund. 
 
VI. In the calculation of additional amounts payable in the parish 

areas. 
 
3.4 The rules which authorities are to use to calculate the council tax 

base are prescribed in the 2012 Regulations.  
 
3.5 Appendix A sets out the relevant calculations of the council tax base 

for the whole and parts of the area.  
 
3.6  The total reduction in the tax base for the council tax support scheme 

is estimated at 3,052 after band weightings are applied. This is based 
on estimated discounts of £5,429,549. 

 
4. Relationship to the Corporate Plan 
 

The setting of the Council Tax Base is an integral part of the budget setting 
 process and a legal requirement. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 14Agenda Item 11



 

GENERAL ASSEMBLY OF THE COUNCIL 
13 JANUARY 2020 

 

  

5. Financial, legal, staffing and other administrative implications and risk 
assessments 

 

Financial 
Implications 

The setting of the council tax base is an integral part of the 
budget making process. This decision must be made by 
31 January and notified to major preceptors and the parish 
councils. 
 

Legal 
Implications 

The Local Authorities (Calculation of Tax Base) Regulations 
2012 apply.  
 

Staffing 
Implications 

None 
 

Administrative 
Implications 

None 
 

Risk 
Assessment 

If the Council does not set a tax base as early as possible, a 
key component for budget setting by all precepting 
authorities will not be in place.  Consequently, it would be 
very difficult to meet statutory deadlines for setting the 
2020/21 budget and sending out Council Tax bills.  

  
6. Appendices 
 

Appendix A – Relevant calculations of the 2020/21 Council Tax base 
  
 

BACKGROUND PAPERS 
 

Documents 
consulted 

Date File Ref Report 
Author 

Section and 
Directorate 

Exempt 
Information 
Category 

Council Tax 
Base 2020/21  

  Tim Sams 
01322 343148 

Financial 
Services/ 
Internal 
Services 
 

N/A 

 

Page 15 Agenda Item 11



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 16



Disab A Band A Band B Band C Band D Band E Band F Band G Band H TOTAL

1,681 6,804 14,869 12,878 6,866 2,812 1,072 61 47,043

58 97 137 130 52 22 6 0 502

0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 X

1,623 6,707 14,732 12,748 6,814 2,790 1,066 61 46,541

0 26 69 89 54 21 14 12 285

0 26 69 89 54 21 14 12 285

0 1,649 6,750 14,752 12,713 6,781 2,783 1,064 49 46,541

0 572 3,321 9,751 9,031 5,492 2,318 933 42 31,460

0.00 1,378.62 5,889.25 13,487.50 11,778.25 6,454.00 2,660.25 1,027.50 46.25 42,721.62

0.00 349.08 1,156.40 1,292.18 587.98 104.68 30.27 6.57 0.33 3,527.49

0.0 1,029.5 4,732.9 12,195.3 11,190.3 6,349.3 2,630.0 1,020.9 45.9 39,194.13

 5/9  6/9  7/9  8/9  9/9  11/9  13/9  15/9  18/9

0.0 686.4 3,681.1 10,840.3 11,190.3 7,760.3 3,798.9 1,701.6 91.8 39,750.70

97.50%

38,756.93

BOROUGH

Number of chargeable dwellings adjusted

Total number of dwellings on the Valuation List

Number of dwellings on valuation list exempt (Class B & D to W 
exemptions)

Number of demolished dwellings and dwellings outside area of 
authority (please see notes)

Number of chargeable dwellings (treating demolished dwellings 
etc as exempt) (lines 1-2-3)

Number of chargeable dwellings subject to disabled reduction 

Number of dwellings effectively subject to council tax for this 
band by virtue of disabled relief

Number of dwellings equivalents after applying discounts, 
premiums and local tax support to calculate taxbase

Ratio to band D
Total number of band D equivalents after allowance for council 
tax support (to 1 decimal place)

Number of dwellings above where there is liability to pay 100% 
council tax before Family Annexe discount

Reduction in taxbase as a result of local council tax support

Number of dwellings equivalents after applying discounts and 
premiums to calculate tax base

Collection Rate Adjustment

TAX BASE

Appendix A

P
age 17

A
genda Item

 11



Disab A Band A Band B Band C Band D Band E Band F Band G Band H TOTAL

785 3,108 9,341 7,539 3,513 906 278 8 25,478.0

24 53 78 74 19 7 1 0 256.0

0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0.0 X

761 3,055 9,263 7,465 3,494 899 277 8 25,222.0

0 9 41 47 24 6 1 3 131.0

0 9 41 47 24 6 1 3 131.0

0 770 3,087 9,269 7,442 3,476 894 279 5 25,222.0

0 283 1,257 6,232 5,414 2,903 769 247 3 17,108.0

0.00 648.00 2,628.50 8,506.50 6,923.75 3,329.25 860.00 270.25 4.25 23,170.5

0.00 137.04 577.70 771.98 318.66 57.72 7.81 2.36 0.00 1,873.3

0.0 511.0 2,050.8 7,734.5 6,605.1 3,271.5 852.2 267.9 4.3 21,297.2

 5/9  6/9  7/9  8/9  9/9  11/9  13/9  15/9  18/9

0.0 340.6 1,595.1 6,875.1 6,605.1 3,998.5 1,230.9 446.5 8.5 21,100.3

97.5%

20,572.79

UNPARISHED

Number of dwellings equivalents after applying discounts and 
premiums to calculate tax base

Reduction in taxbase as a result of local council tax support

Number of dwellings equivalents after applying discounts, 
premiums and local tax support to calculate taxbase

Ratio to band D

Number of dwellings above where there is liability to pay 100% 
council tax before Family Annexe discount

Total number of dwellings on the Valuation List

Number of dwellings on valuation list exempt (Class B & D to W 
exemptions)

Number of demolished dwellings and dwellings outside area of 
authority (please see notes)

Total number of band D equivalents after allowance for council 
tax support (to 1 decimal place)

Collection Rate Adjustment

TAX BASE

Number of chargeable dwellings (treating demolished dwellings 
etc as exempt) (lines 1-2-3)

Number of chargeable dwellings subject to disabled reduction 

Number of dwellings effectively subject to council tax for this 
band by virtue of disabled relief

Number of chargeable dwellings adjusted

P
age 18

A
genda Item

 11



Disab A Band A Band B Band C Band D Band E Band F Band G Band H TOTAL

509 1,959 1,508 1,204 659 258 18 1 6,116.0

3 21 16 11 2 0 0 0 53.0

0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0.0 X

506 1,938 1,492 1,193 657 258 18 1 6,063.0

0 10 7 6 2 3 2 0 30.0

0 10 7 6 2 3 2 0 30.0

0 516 1,935 1,491 1,189 658 257 16 1 6,063.0

0 168 1,212 971 768 521 213 15 1 3,869.0

0.00 430.25 1,747.75 1,356.50 1,082.50 626.00 245.50 15.75 1.00 5,505.3

0.00 119.81 294.18 121.33 55.91 9.27 1.46 0.00 0.00 602.0

0.0 310.4 1,453.6 1,235.2 1,026.6 616.7 244.0 15.8 1.0 4,903.3

 5/9  6/9  7/9  8/9  9/9  11/9  13/9  15/9  18/9

0.0 207.0 1,130.6 1,097.9 1,026.6 753.8 352.5 26.3 2.0 4,596.7

97.5%

4,481.78

SWANSCOMBE & GREENHITHE

Number of dwellings equivalents after applying discounts and 
premiums to calculate tax base

Reduction in taxbase as a result of local council tax support

Number of dwellings equivalents after applying discounts, 
premiums and local tax support to calculate taxbase

Ratio to band D

Number of dwellings above where there is liability to pay 100% 
council tax before Family Annexe discount

Total number of dwellings on the Valuation List

Number of dwellings on valuation list exempt (Class B & D to W 
exemptions)

Number of demolished dwellings and dwellings outside area of 
authority (please see notes)

Total number of band D equivalents after allowance for council 
tax support (to 1 decimal place)

Collection Rate Adjustment

TAX BASE

Number of chargeable dwellings (treating demolished dwellings 
etc as exempt) (lines 1-2-3)

Number of chargeable dwellings subject to disabled reduction 

Number of dwellings effectively subject to council tax for this 
band by virtue of disabled relief

Number of chargeable dwellings adjusted

P
age 19

A
genda Item

 11



Disab A Band A Band B Band C Band D Band E Band F Band G Band H TOTAL

131 92 822 257 97 144 65 5 1,613.0

20 1 10 2 1 2 1 0 37.0

0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0.0 X

111 91 812 255 96 142 64 5 1,576.0

0 2 1 1 2 0 2 2 10.0

0 2 1 1 2 0 2 2 10.0

0 113 90 812 256 94 144 64 3 1,576.0

0 42 54 604 178 77 127 54 2 1,138.0

0.00 96.25 80.25 760.75 236.25 89.75 140.50 60.50 2.50 1,466.8

0.00 35.48 19.24 96.04 8.54 0.83 6.39 0.47 0.00 167.0

0.0 60.8 61.0 664.7 227.7 88.9 134.1 60.0 2.5 1,299.8

 5/9  6/9  7/9  8/9  9/9  11/9  13/9  15/9  18/9

0.0 40.5 47.5 590.9 227.7 108.7 193.7 100.1 5.0 1,314.1

97.5%

1,281.25

DARENTH

Number of dwellings equivalents after applying discounts and 
premiums to calculate tax base

Reduction in taxbase as a result of local council tax support

Number of dwellings equivalents after applying discounts, 
premiums and local tax support to calculate taxbase

Ratio to band D

Number of dwellings above where there is liability to pay 100% 
council tax before Family Annexe discount

Total number of dwellings on the Valuation List

Number of dwellings on valuation list exempt (Class B & D to W 
exemptions)

Number of demolished dwellings and dwellings outside area of 
authority (please see notes)

Total number of band D equivalents after allowance for council 
tax support (to 1 decimal place)

Collection Rate Adjustment

TAX BASE

Number of chargeable dwellings (treating demolished dwellings 
etc as exempt) (lines 1-2-3)

Number of chargeable dwellings subject to disabled reduction 

Number of dwellings effectively subject to council tax for this 
band by virtue of disabled relief

Number of chargeable dwellings adjusted

P
age 20

A
genda Item

 11



Disab A Band A Band B Band C Band D Band E Band F Band G Band H TOTAL

7 42 120 100 74 126 118 14 601.0

2 0 1 1 0 0 1 0 5.0

0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0.0 X

5 42 119 99 74 126 117 14 596.0

0 1 2 2 1 1 1 2 10.0

0 1 2 2 1 1 1 2 10.0

0 6 43 119 98 74 126 118 12 596.0

0 3 14 83 65 58 103 100 10 436.0

0.00 4.75 35.75 109.25 89.00 70.00 120.00 112.75 11.50 553.0

0.00 1.19 8.70 12.60 6.26 0.44 0.99 0.74 0.33 31.3

0.0 3.6 27.1 96.7 82.7 69.6 119.0 112.0 11.2 521.8

 5/9  6/9  7/9  8/9  9/9  11/9  13/9  15/9  18/9

0.0 2.4 21.0 85.9 82.7 85.0 171.9 186.7 22.3 657.9

97.5%

641.45

SOUTHFLEET

Number of dwellings equivalents after applying discounts and 
premiums to calculate tax base

Reduction in taxbase as a result of local council tax support

Number of dwellings equivalents after applying discounts, 
premiums and local tax support to calculate taxbase

Ratio to band D

Number of dwellings above where there is liability to pay 100% 
council tax before Family Annexe discount

Total number of dwellings on the Valuation List

Number of dwellings on valuation list exempt (Class B & D to W 
exemptions)

Number of demolished dwellings and dwellings outside area of 
authority (please see notes)

Total number of band D equivalents after allowance for council 
tax support (to 1 decimal place)

Collection Rate Adjustment

TAX BASE

Number of chargeable dwellings (treating demolished dwellings 
etc as exempt) (lines 1-2-3)

Number of chargeable dwellings subject to disabled reduction 

Number of dwellings effectively subject to council tax for this 
band by virtue of disabled relief

Number of chargeable dwellings adjusted

P
age 21

A
genda Item

 11



Disab A Band A Band B Band C Band D Band E Band F Band G Band H TOTAL

18 54 209 253 103 28 5 2 672.0

0 3 1 2 0 1 0 0 7.0

0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0.0 X

18 51 208 251 103 27 5 2 665.0

0 0 1 4 1 0 0 0 6.0

0 0 1 4 1 0 0 0 6.0

0 18 52 211 248 102 27 5 2 665.0

0 8 32 151 194 80 23 4 2 494.0

0.00 14.62 47.00 196.00 234.50 96.50 26.00 4.75 2.00 621.4

0.00 8.18 11.50 21.82 10.26 0.60 0.00 0.00 0.00 52.4

0.0 6.4 35.5 174.2 224.2 95.9 26.0 4.8 2.0 569.0

 5/9  6/9  7/9  8/9  9/9  11/9  13/9  15/9  18/9

0.0 4.3 27.6 154.8 224.2 117.2 37.6 7.9 4.0 577.6

97.5%

563.16

BEAN

Number of dwellings equivalents after applying discounts and 
premiums to calculate tax base

Reduction in taxbase as a result of local council tax support

Number of dwellings equivalents after applying discounts, 
premiums and local tax support to calculate taxbase

Ratio to band D

Number of dwellings above where there is liability to pay 100% 
council tax before Family Annexe discount

Total number of dwellings on the Valuation List

Number of dwellings on valuation list exempt (Class B & D to W 
exemptions)

Number of demolished dwellings and dwellings outside area of 
authority (please see notes)

Total number of band D equivalents after allowance for council 
tax support (to 1 decimal place)

Collection Rate Adjustment

TAX BASE

Number of chargeable dwellings (treating demolished dwellings 
etc as exempt) (lines 1-2-3)

Number of chargeable dwellings subject to disabled reduction 

Number of dwellings effectively subject to council tax for this 
band by virtue of disabled relief

Number of chargeable dwellings adjusted

P
age 22

A
genda Item

 11



Disab A Band A Band B Band C Band D Band E Band F Band G Band H TOTAL

101 1,200 1,749 1,583 615 244 14 7 5,513.0

1 13 10 12 3 0 0 0 39.0

0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0.0 X

100 1,187 1,739 1,571 612 244 14 7 5,474.0

0 4 11 17 1 1 0 1 35.0

0 4 11 17 1 1 0 1 35.0

0 104 1,194 1,745 1,555 612 243 15 6 5,474.0

0 32 621 1,039 1,032 501 211 13 4 3,453.0

0.00 86.00 1,056.50 1,565.00 1,421.00 582.75 235.00 14.25 5.00 4,965.5

0.00 18.26 165.83 180.08 98.69 9.14 1.23 0.00 0.00 473.2

0.0 67.7 890.7 1,384.9 1,322.3 573.6 233.8 14.3 5.0 4,492.3

 5/9  6/9  7/9  8/9  9/9  11/9  13/9  15/9  18/9

0.0 45.2 692.7 1,231.0 1,322.3 701.1 337.7 23.8 10.0 4,363.8

97.5%

4,254.71

STONE

Number of dwellings equivalents after applying discounts and 
premiums to calculate tax base

Reduction in taxbase as a result of local council tax support

Number of dwellings equivalents after applying discounts, 
premiums and local tax support to calculate taxbase

Ratio to band D

Number of dwellings above where there is liability to pay 100% 
council tax before Family Annexe discount

Total number of dwellings on the Valuation List

Number of dwellings on valuation list exempt (Class B & D to W 
exemptions)

Number of demolished dwellings and dwellings outside area of 
authority (please see notes)

Total number of band D equivalents after allowance for council 
tax support (to 1 decimal place)

Collection Rate Adjustment

TAX BASE

Number of chargeable dwellings (treating demolished dwellings 
etc as exempt) (lines 1-2-3)

Number of chargeable dwellings subject to disabled reduction 

Number of dwellings effectively subject to council tax for this 
band by virtue of disabled relief

Number of chargeable dwellings adjusted

P
age 23

A
genda Item

 11



Disab A Band A Band B Band C Band D Band E Band F Band G Band H TOTAL

90 132 427 813 185 73 30 4 1,754.0

4 2 3 11 2 0 0 0 22.0

0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0.0 X

86 130 424 802 183 73 30 4 1,732.0

0 0 3 5 2 1 0 1 12.0

0 0 3 5 2 1 0 1 12.0

0 86 133 426 799 182 72 31 3 1,732.0

0 19 61 293 614 156 65 28 3 1,239.0

0.00 68.50 114.75 392.00 752.00 174.75 70.25 30.00 3.00 1,605.3

0.00 21.85 29.90 25.22 28.43 1.34 0.42 0.00 0.00 107.2

0.0 46.7 84.9 366.8 723.6 173.4 69.8 30.0 3.0 1,498.1

 5/9  6/9  7/9  8/9  9/9  11/9  13/9  15/9  18/9

0.0 31.1 66.0 326.0 723.6 211.9 100.9 50.0 6.0 1,515.5

97.5%

1,477.61

SUTTON-AT-HONE

Number of dwellings equivalents after applying discounts and 
premiums to calculate tax base

Reduction in taxbase as a result of local council tax support

Number of dwellings equivalents after applying discounts, 
premiums and local tax support to calculate taxbase

Ratio to band D

Number of dwellings above where there is liability to pay 100% 
council tax before Family Annexe discount

Total number of dwellings on the Valuation List

Number of dwellings on valuation list exempt (Class B & D to W 
exemptions)

Number of demolished dwellings and dwellings outside area of 
authority (please see notes)

Total number of band D equivalents after allowance for council 
tax support (to 1 decimal place)

Collection Rate Adjustment

TAX BASE

Number of chargeable dwellings (treating demolished dwellings 
etc as exempt) (lines 1-2-3)

Number of chargeable dwellings subject to disabled reduction 

Number of dwellings effectively subject to council tax for this 
band by virtue of disabled relief

Number of chargeable dwellings adjusted

P
age 24

A
genda Item

 11



Disab A Band A Band B Band C Band D Band E Band F Band G Band H TOTAL

25 171 545 810 895 393 221 18 3,078.0

2 2 15 13 11 1 1 0 45.0

0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0.0 X

23 169 530 797 884 392 220 18 3,033.0

0 0 2 4 9 2 1 1 19.0

0 0 2 4 9 2 1 1 19.0

0 23 171 532 802 877 391 220 17 3,033.0

0 7 51 307 562 670 309 194 17 2,117.0

0.00 18.50 140.25 473.50 744.50 824.25 368.75 213.25 17.00 2,800.0

0.00 7.00 40.37 45.39 32.70 12.90 7.28 1.00 0.00 146.6

0.0 11.5 99.9 428.1 711.8 811.4 361.5 212.3 17.0 2,653.4

 5/9  6/9  7/9  8/9  9/9  11/9  13/9  15/9  18/9

0.0 7.7 77.7 380.5 711.8 991.7 522.1 353.8 34.0 3,079.3

97.5%

3,002.32

WILMINGTON

Number of dwellings equivalents after applying discounts and 
premiums to calculate tax base

Reduction in taxbase as a result of local council tax support

Number of dwellings equivalents after applying discounts, 
premiums and local tax support to calculate taxbase

Ratio to band D

Number of dwellings above where there is liability to pay 100% 
council tax before Family Annexe discount

Total number of dwellings on the Valuation List

Number of dwellings on valuation list exempt (Class B & D to W 
exemptions)

Number of demolished dwellings and dwellings outside area of 
authority (please see notes)

Total number of band D equivalents after allowance for council 
tax support (to 1 decimal place)

Collection Rate Adjustment

TAX BASE

Number of chargeable dwellings (treating demolished dwellings 
etc as exempt) (lines 1-2-3)

Number of chargeable dwellings subject to disabled reduction 

Number of dwellings effectively subject to council tax for this 
band by virtue of disabled relief

Number of chargeable dwellings adjusted

P
age 25

A
genda Item

 11



Disab A Band A Band B Band C Band D Band E Band F Band G Band H TOTAL

15 46 148 319 725 640 323 2 2,218.0

2 2 3 4 14 11 2 0 38.0

0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0.0 X

13 44 145 315 711 629 321 2 2,180.0

0 0 1 3 12 7 7 2 32.0

0 0 1 3 12 7 7 2 32.0

0 13 45 147 324 706 629 316 0 2,180.0

0 10 19 71 204 526 498 278 0 1,606.0

0.00 11.75 38.50 128.00 294.75 660.75 594.25 306.00 0.00 2,034.0

0.00 0.27 8.97 17.72 28.52 12.43 4.69 2.00 0.00 74.6

0.0 11.5 29.5 110.3 266.2 648.3 589.6 304.0 0.0 1,959.4

 5/9  6/9  7/9  8/9  9/9  11/9  13/9  15/9  18/9

0.0 7.7 23.0 98.0 266.2 792.4 851.6 506.7 0.0 2,545.6

97.5%

2,481.96

LONGFIELD

Number of dwellings equivalents after applying discounts and 
premiums to calculate tax base

Reduction in taxbase as a result of local council tax support

Number of dwellings equivalents after applying discounts, 
premiums and local tax support to calculate taxbase

Ratio to band D

Number of dwellings above where there is liability to pay 100% 
council tax before Family Annexe discount

Total number of dwellings on the Valuation List

Number of dwellings on valuation list exempt (Class B & D to W 
exemptions)

Number of demolished dwellings and dwellings outside area of 
authority (please see notes)

Total number of band D equivalents after allowance for council 
tax support (to 1 decimal place)

Collection Rate Adjustment

TAX BASE

Number of chargeable dwellings (treating demolished dwellings 
etc as exempt) (lines 1-2-3)

Number of chargeable dwellings subject to disabled reduction 

Number of dwellings effectively subject to council tax for this 
band by virtue of disabled relief

Number of chargeable dwellings adjusted

P
age 26

A
genda Item

 11



CABINET 
05 DECEMBER 2019 

 

GENERAL ASSEMBLY OF THE COUNCIL 
13 JANUARY 2020 

 

 

FINANCIAL CONTRIBUTIONS TO PARISH AND TOWN 

COUNCILS 2020/21 
 

 
1. Summary 

 
To agree the level of financial contributions to be paid to Parish and Town Councils 
in 2020/21 

 

 
2. RECOMMENDATIONS TO CABINET 
 

2.1   That the following contributions be made to Parish and Town Councils to 
compensate for lost council tax income in local areas for the introduction 
of the council tax support scheme: 

 
                                                                                              £ 

Bean 334 

Darenth 1,923 

Longfield 631 

Southfleet 198 

Stone 7,021 

Sutton at Hone and Hawley 1,737 

Swanscombe and 
Greenhithe 14,435 

Wilmington 1,317 

 
2.2      That the contributions be made subject to the Parish and Town Councils 

submitting suitably analysed details of estimated net expenditure for the 
ensuing year by 31 January each year, and actual net expenditure for the 
preceding year no later than six months after the end of each financial 
year, in a format prescribed by the Council. 

 
2.3 That the payments be made in two equal instalments; the first on 30 April 

(or next working day) and the second, the latter of 30 September (or next 
working day) or seven days following receipt of the Parish or Town 
Councils’ 2019/20 accounts, certified as correct by their Clerks. 

 
2.4 That the Council continues to operate the Capacity Building Fund and 

makes a contribution of £40,000 into the fund in 2020/21 
 
2.5  That the Managing Director, in consultation with the Leader and Deputy 

Leader of the Council, be granted delegated authority to agree the 
Capacity Building Fund bidding criteria and approval of awards through a 
Grants Panel process. 

 

Page 27 Agenda Item 12



CABINET 
05 DECEMBER 2019 

 

GENERAL ASSEMBLY OF THE COUNCIL 
13 JANUARY 2020 

 

 

 
 

2.6 RECOMMENDATION TO GENERAL ASSEMBLY OF THE COUNCIL 
 

 2.6.1 That the proposed contributions to Parish/Town Councils,  be part of the 
overall budget, subject to formal approval at the 24 February 2020 
Budget meeting. 

 

 
3. Background and Discussion 

 
3.1. Since 1 April 1974, the Council has made an annual contribution under 

Section 136 of the Local Government Act 1972 towards the expenses 
incurred by Parish/Town Councils for certain services which may be 
provided by both the Borough Council and the Parishes/Town Councils, 
i.e. concurrent functions. 
 

3.2. It is important that Parish/Town Councils receive sufficient notice of the 
Council’s plans in this area in order to set their own budgets and Council 
Tax levels.  
 

3.3. The Section 136 contribution was set at a total of £17,354 in 2018/19. 
 

3.4. The Council also provided funding to Parishes/Town Councils following 
the introduction of the Council Tax Support Scheme. The amount 
received by Parishes/Town Councils in relation to this was £27,596 (in 
total) in 2019/20. Initially the Council received a separately identifiable 
grant element for this but now any remaining funding is unidentified. Any 
distribution of funding to Parish and Town Councils is at the discretion of 
the Borough Council, which has been pleased to support the 
Parish/Town Councils in this way.   
 

3.5. The Council also set aside £40,000 in 2019/20 within the Capacity 
Building Fund in order to assist Parish and Town Councils to become 
less reliant on core funding from the Council and to explore innovative 
ways of working. 
 

3.6. In 2019/20 the Council’s revenue support funding stopped. 
 

3.7. Given this cessation it is not feasible for the Council to continue to make 
the same level of funding available to Parish/Town Councils. It is 
proposed that the [Borough] Council share the burden of the grant 
reduction and therefore the annual contribution under Section 136 of the 
Local Government Act 1972 should be removed. 
 

Page 28Agenda Item 12



CABINET 
05 DECEMBER 2019 

 

GENERAL ASSEMBLY OF THE COUNCIL 
13 JANUARY 2020 

 

 

3.8. The commitment to funding the impact of the Council Tax Support 
Scheme continues and the funding for this has been retained at the 
same level. 
 

3.9. It is also proposed to continue the Council’s commitment to the 
successful Capacity Building Fund grants at the same level of £40,000 
(in total). The grants will continue to assist Parish and Town Councils to 
become less reliant on core funding from the [Borough] Council and to 
explore innovative ways of working.  
 

3.10. Overall total contributions will reduce by 20%. 
 

3.11. Given that Revenue Support Grant has ended, it is likely that further 
adjustments will be applied going forward so that funding to Parish and 
Town Councils fully reflect the reductions in grants received to date.  
 

3.12. The effect of the cessation of core Section 136 funding, the continuation 
of Council Tax Support Grant and Capacity Building Fund for 2020/21 is 
shown in Appendix A. 
 

4. Relationship to the Corporate Plan 
 

The contribution by the Council assists Parishes and Town Councils to 
provide high quality services that reflect public aspirations and to ensure 
that public and open spaces are clean and safe. 

 
5. Financial, legal, staffing and other implications and risk assessments 
 

Financial Implications The total sum payable by the Council to Parish 
and Town Councils in 2020/21 will be £27,596. 
In addition, the Council will continue to operate 
the Capacity Building Fund and make a 
contribution of £40,000 into the fund. 
 
Overall, the reduction in total funding is 
£17,354. 
 

Legal Implications 

 

Section 136 of the Local Government Act 
1972. 
 

Staffing Implications None 

Administrative 
Implications 

None  

Risk Assessment No uncertainties and/or constraints 

 

Page 29 Agenda Item 12



CABINET 
05 DECEMBER 2019 

 

GENERAL ASSEMBLY OF THE COUNCIL 
13 JANUARY 2020 

 

 

 
 
  
6. Details of Exempt Information Category 
 
 

 Not applicable 
 
 

7. Appendices 
 

Appendix A - Amounts payable to Parish and Town Councils in 
2020/21 

 
 
 

BACKGROUND PAPERS 
 

Documents consulted Date / 
File Ref 

Report Author Section and 
Directorate 

Exempt 
Information 
Category 

 

Parish Accounts  Tim Sams 
(01322) 343148 

Financial 
Services/ 
Internal 
Services 

N/A 

 

Page 30Agenda Item 12



AMOUNTS PAYABLE TO PARISH AND TOWN COUNCILS IN 2019/20 AND 2020/21 Appendix A

2019/20 2019/20 2019/20 2019/20 2020/21 2020/21 2020/21 2020/21

Core Sec 136 

contribution CTS grant

Capacity 

Building 

Fund

Total 

contribution 

from DBC to 

Parishes CTS grant

Capacity 

Building 

Fund

Total 

contribution 

from DBC to 

Parishes

Reduced total 

contribution

£ £ £ £ £ £ £ £

Bean 666 334 1,000 334 334 666

Darenth 1,464 1,923 3,386 1,923 1,923 1,464

Longfield 1,225 631 1,856 631 631 1,225

Southfleet 0 198 198 198 198 0

Stone 4,151 7,021 11,172 7,021 7,021 4,151

Sutton at Hone and Hawley 1,752 1,737 3,490 1,737 1,737 1,752

Swanscombe and Greenhithe 5,440 14,435 19,874 14,435 14,435 5,440

Wilmington 2,655 1,317 3,972 1,317 1,317 2,655

Total (inc CBF) 17,354 27,596 40,000 84,950 27,596 40,000 67,596 17,354

P
age 31

A
genda Item

 12



T
his page is intentionally left blank

P
age 32



GENERAL ASSEMBLY OF THE COUNCIL 
13 January 2019 

 

REVIEW OF MEMBERS’ ALLOWANCE SCHEME – 2020 -21 
ONWARDS 

 

 
1. Summary 

 

1.1 To consider the recommendations of the Independent Remuneration Panel and to 
approve a revised Members’ Allowances Scheme. 

 

2. RECOMMENDATIONS 
 
2.1 That the recommendations of the Independent Remuneration Panel’s review of 

the Members’ Allowances Scheme, as set out in Appendix A to the report, be 
endorsed. 

2.2 That the revised Scheme of Members’ Allowances, as detailed in Appendix B to 
the report, be approved, with effect 1 April 2020. 

 

 
3. Background and Discussion 

 
3.1 The Independent Remuneration Panel (IRP) was asked to review the 

current Members’ Allowance Scheme. The Panel met on 16th December 
2019 to consider their report. 

 
3.2 The IRP asked that the report be referred to the General Assembly of the 

Council for consideration. 
 
3.3 As part of its work, the IRP included a review of the referred motion from 

the General Assembly of the Council 7 Oct 2019 [Minute 50] in respect of 
parental leave.  

 
3.4 A revised Members’ Allowance Scheme for April 2020-21 onwards, 

consistent with the recommendations of the IRP, is attached as Appendix 
B and is recommended for approval. 

 
4. Relationship to the Corporate Plan 
 

Not applicable 
 

5. Financial, legal, staffing and other implications and risk assessments* 
 

Financial Implications The proposed IRP recommendations are 
expected to lead in increases of around 2.5% in 
the cost of allowances. These will be built into the 
2020/21 budget. 

Page 33 Agenda Item 13



GENERAL ASSEMBLY OF THE COUNCIL 
13 January 2019 

 

Legal Implications 

 

There is a statutory requirement to set a 
Members’ Allowance Scheme after having 
regard to a report from an Independent 
Remuneration Panel. 
 
The proposals in the IRP report do not have 
adverse effects on any particular protected 
group. 
 
The IRP have proposed particular 
recommendations around parental leave, which 
have been determined whilst considering the 
need to encourage persons who share a 
protected characteristic to participate in public 
life.  
 
The IRP has recommended allowances at levels, 
which would aid the continued and improved 
diversity of representation for the Borough.  
 

Staffing Implications None 

Administrative 
Implications 

None  

Risk Assessment No uncertainties and/or constraints 

 
6. Details of Exempt Information Category 
 
 Not applicable 
 
7. Appendices 
 

Appendix A - Report of the Independent Remuneration Panel 
Appendix B – Member’s Allowances Scheme 

 
 
 

BACKGROUND PAPERS 
 

Documents consulted Date / 
File Ref 

Report Author Section and 
Directorate 

Exempt 
Information 
Category 

 

  Tim Sams  
(01322) 343148 

Financial 
Services/ 
Internal 
Services 

N/A 

 

Page 34Agenda Item 13



Appendix A 
 

A REVIEW OF MEMBERS’ ALLOWANCES FOR DARTFORD BOROUGH 
COUNCIL 

 
A REPORT BY THE INDEPENDENT REMUNERATION PANEL 

 
  

Page 35 Agenda Item 13



INDEX 
 
1 Introduction 
2 The Independent Remuneration Panel 
3 Terms of Reference 
4 Dartford Borough Council 
5 The Basic Allowance – Research and Discussions 
6 Special Responsibility Allowance –Research and Discussions 
7 The Leader’s Allowance 
8 Methodology and Calculation of the Leader’s Special 
   Responsibility Allowance 
9 Other Allowances 
10 Other Matters - Related to Members’ Allowances 
Annex A - Proposed Special Responsibility Allowances 
 
 
  

Page 36Agenda Item 13



AN EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 
 
The following is a summary of the recommendations made by the Independent 
Remuneration Panel (hereafter referred to as the IRP or the Panel) convened by 
Dartford Borough Council to consider the current level of allowances paid to Members. 
 
The work of the Panel was to conduct an independent review of the existing scheme 
of remuneration and allowances and to make recommendations. This involved taking 
evidence from, and entering into discussions with, a number of Members of the 
Council. These interviews ensured the Panel examined the different responsibilities 
that Councillors had and the different views held about the current levels of 
remuneration. 
 
The Panel then determined the level of a Basic Allowance, which must be made 
available to all Members of the Council, and considered the remuneration for those 
who hold positions, which carry significant additional responsibilities. 
 
The Panel retained the view that the setting of the Special Responsibility Allowance 
for the Leader of the Council enabled a structure of other Special Responsibility 
Allowances to be constructed using the Leader’s allowance as the benchmark. 
The methodology for all these calculations is set out in the report. 
 
 
RECOMMENDATIONS: 
 
1. That from 1 April 2020, the Basic Members’ Allowance be subject to a modest 

increase, based on the expected employees’ pay award, from the current level 
of £5,306 to £5,439 as set out in paragraph 5.5 of this report. 

 
2. That from 1 April 2020, Special Responsibility Allowances, as set out in Annex 

A to this report, be approved as follows: 
 

• Leader £34,082 
• Deputy Leader £18,177 
• Shadow Leader £9,089 
• Deputy Shadow Leader £5,453 
• Other Group Leader £4,544 
• Deputy Group Leader £2,727 
• Cabinet Member £9,089 
• Lead Member (Cabinet Delivery Team Leaders) £2,272 
• Chair Development Control (DC) Board £5,453 
• Vice-Chair DC Board £1,800 
• Shadow Chair DC Board £1,800 
• Chair Strategic Housing Board £5,453 
• Chair Scrutiny Committee £2,272 
• Chair Audit Board £2,272 
• Chair Policy and Overview Committee £2,272 

 

Page 37 Agenda Item 13



3. That in order for a Group Leader’s allowance, or per capita payment, to be paid, 
a Group must consist of a minimum of five elected Members (excluding the 
Group Leader), or 10% of the Council’s Members (whichever the greater). 

 

4. That the per capita payment made to Group Leaders, as set out in paragraph 6.3 
of this report, be approved. 

 

5. That an allowance of £15.75 per hour, for care of adults and disabled children, 
be approved. 

 

6. That the allowance payable in respect of the care of children up to the age of 15, 
be set at £12.00 per hour. 

 

7. That allowances paid to Co-opted Members, as set out in paragraph 10.1 of this 
report, be approved. 

 

8. That the allowances listed above, be subject to an annual inflationary uplift, 
effective from 1 April of each year, rounded to the nearest whole pound, in 
accordance with percentage  increase agreed by the Council for the employees’ 
pay award in each year. 

 

9. That the text at paragraph 10.3 of this report, be inserted into the Members’ 
Allowances Scheme. 

 
 

THE REPORT 
 

1. Introduction 
 

1.1. The Independent Remuneration Panel (IRP) was set up by the Dartford Borough 
Council to comply with the requirements of the Local Authorities (Members’ 
Allowances)(England) Regulations 2000 (as amended). This requires that before 
setting up or amending a scheme of allowances for Members, the Council must 
have regard to the recommendations made by its IRP.  

 
1.2. The last review of the Members’ Allowances Scheme was carried out in 2015. 

This review built on the work and principles of previous reviews and, in particular, 
continued to accept the methodology of the 2007 review. The recommendations 
of the IRP were submitted to the Annual Meeting of the Council on 14 December 
2015. The Council accordingly approved its Scheme. 

 

1.3. The 2003 Regulations provide that any Councillor or Co-opted Member may elect 
to forego any part of their entitlement to allowances under an approved 
remuneration scheme. 

 

2. The Independent Remuneration Panel 
 
2.1. The Panel membership is:- 

Timothy Ian Whittaker  

Page 38Agenda Item 13



Rodney Hargrove 
Alan Spencer 
Claire Metcalf 

 
2.2. The Panel would like to thank all those Councillors who gave their time to the 

Panel in providing information, support and advice, particularly in describing their 
individual roles. The Panel were impressed by their commitment and dedication 
to the Borough. 

 
2.3. The Panel has met on nine occasions and has conducted interviews with six 

Councillors. The work of the Panel also included researching the members’ 
allowance schemes of other local authorities. 

 

3. Terms of Reference 
 
3.1. The Panel was asked to consider and make recommendations for a scheme of 

allowances for Members of the Council in order that recommendations can be 
made to the Council in January 2020. 

 
4. Dartford Borough Council 
 
4.1. The Council is a medium sized local authority within the administrative county of 

Kent and adjoins the south eastern boundary of the Greater London area. It is 
an area of predominantly urban character but it includes a number of 
Parish/Town Councils in a small rural hinterland. It holds a key position in 
Thames Gateway development corridor to the east of London and is currently 
seeing substantial new development and regeneration. This requires 
considerable effort from the Members of the Council in times of challenge and 
change and distinguishes Dartford Borough Council from other ‘apparently’ 
similar authorities. 

 
4.2. There are 42 elected Councillors. The Conservative members form the ruling 

administration; the Labour group forms the main opposition. 
 

4.3. The Council operates under a Cabinet arrangement. There are seven Cabinet 
Members which includes the Leader of the Council, the Deputy Leader and five 
other Portfolio Members. The Cabinet is the key policy making body. Cabinet 
Members are assisted by six Lead Members as approved by the Council. 

 

4.4. The arrangements for the conduct of the Council’s business provides for a 
number of Committees, Boards and Panels to deal with specific tasks and 
functions. These bodies have a Chairman and a Vice Chairman - their 
membership reflects the political balance of the Council. 

 

4.5. The opposition group has a Leader and a Deputy Leader and, although they are 
not represented on the Cabinet, they can play an important role in policy 
development and implementation through the process of overview and scrutiny 
and participation in Cabinet Advisory Panels. 

 

Page 39 Agenda Item 13



5. The Basic Allowance – Research and Discussions 
 

5.1. The 2003 Regulations state that each authority must make provision for a basic 
flat rate allowance payable to all members of the authority. The allowance must 
be the same for each member. This allowance is intended to recognise the time 
commitment of all Councillors on Council business including Council/committee 
meetings, meeting with officers, time spent with ward residents and attendance 
at political group meetings. 

 
5.2. The Panel felt that the rationale used in the calculation of the payments in the 

existing Scheme continues to provide a suitable method for its determination.  
 

5.3. The time each Councillor spends on their work depends on matters raised within 
each political party, the requirements of individual wards and the personal time 
each member can devote to such activities. The IRP felt that the previous on 
average figure of 10 hours a week on Council business was still representative 
of their work. This figure is not meant to be either prescriptive or limiting and 
excludes any time spent by Councillors on fulfilling special responsibilities. 

 

5.4. The Panel is aware of the view, which suggests that people become Councillors 
because they want to serve their local community, and evidence suggests that 
many Councillors would continue to serve whether remunerated or not. The 
Panel continued to feel strongly that any payments to Councillors should be 
abated by a voluntary component and that this should reflect the level of 
voluntarism given by each Member as a contribution towards community service. 
A general deduction of 33.3% was felt to reflect the voluntary nature of such 
service. 

 

5.5. The Panel agreed that it was appropriate to uplift the basic allowance to £5,439. 
The total amount recommended continues to include a local travel allowance and 
also acknowledges that Members make their own arrangements for IT hardware 
and consumables, as well as telecommunication equipment.  

 

5.6. A scheme of allowances may provide for an annual adjustment to be made by 
reference to an index and the Panel felt the existing method for such annual 
increases should be maintained for a further period, not to exceed four years 
following the adoption of a new scheme. The increase to be applied will be that 
agreed for the employees’ pay award in each year. 

 
6.  Special Responsibility Allowances - Research and Discussions 

 
6.1  The 2003 Regulations make provision for a payment of a Special Responsibility 

Allowance (SRA) that may be paid for duties that fall within defined categories. 
Such payments are not mandatory. However, if they are paid, then the allowance 
scheme must specify the allowance for each such responsibility.  

 
6.2  It is for the political leadership of the Council to determine those Councillors who 

should hold positions of special responsibility. It is for the Panel to recommend 
the level, if any, of the remuneration for these extra responsibilities. The Panel 

Page 40Agenda Item 13



has approached this task by taking evidence from Members and Officers and has 
examined the practice in other authorities. The Panel has also reviewed the 
alignment of the Strategic Housing Board allowance with the allowances for 
Chairmen of committees and is satisfied that this is reasonable. 

 
6.3  The Panel also gave consideration to the arrangement whereby the Leaders and 

Deputy Leaders of certain political groups received an SRA. Currently, these post 
holders receive an SRA and, in addition, the Group Leader receives a per capita 
payment of £255 (uprated figure) for every member in the Group (excluding the 
Leader). The Panel has concluded that the arrangement is satisfactory. 

 
6.4 The Panel has also reviewed the arrangement that all other Members are only 

entitled to receive one Special Responsibility Allowance apart from Group 
Leaders who are entitled to the additional Group Leader Allowance (for each 
member of their group). The Panel recommends that this practice continues.  

 
7.  The Leader’s Special Responsibility Allowance 
 
7.1 The Panel, having taken evidence from a cross-section of the Council, including 

senior Cabinet and opposition Members, has concluded that the role of the 
Leader warrants special and separate consideration. The role is also pivotal to 
the definition of ‘significance’ relating to special responsibilities. 

 
7.2 The role of Leader provides effective political leadership and strategic decision 

making, ensures effective probity and corporate governance. The role includes 
the effective stewardship of the Council, provides chairmanship of the Cabinet 
and is responsible for ensuring that the Council delivers high quality services at 
best value. 

 
7.3  In this wide ranging role, the work of the Leader requires a great deal of time. 

Depending on the personal circumstances of the post holder, it is inevitable that 
the demands of this job will significantly encroach on day, evening and weekend 
time and thereby make it very difficult to hold alternative employment at a suitable 
level. Therefore, the remuneration of the Leader should be set at a level, which 
takes all this into account. 

 
8.  Methodology and Calculation of the Leader’s Special Responsibility 

Allowance 
 
8.1 It was previously felt that the voluntary element of the leader’s role cannot be 

considered to be the same as for other special responsibility roles due to the 
consuming nature of the role and the severely restricted ability for the post holder 
to earn additional income and thereby pension provision for retirement. 
Therefore, the voluntary component of the role was set at 25% rather than 33%. 

 
8.2 The Panel continued to hold this view and recommends the Leader’s allowance 

calculation continues on the same previous basis. Therefore, after an uplift, 
based on the expected employees pay award, the allowance is recommended at 
£34,082 per annum. 

 

Page 41 Agenda Item 13



8.3   Following on from the determination of the allowance for the Leader of the 
Council, the Panel is of the opinion that it is then possible to use this as a 
benchmark to put in place a fair and reasonable level of remuneration for all other 
post holders of special responsibility. However, this should be done using the 
33.33% voluntary element, which has been established for some years. 

 
8.4 The Panel recommends that this continue to be dealt with on a percentage basis 

reflecting how responsibilities are devolved down through the structure and the 
weight of responsibility attached to the various posts. 

 
8.5  The table at Annex A of this report sets out the recommendations of the IRP for 

the payment of all Special Responsibility Allowances. 
 
9.  Other Allowances 
 
9.1  The Panel previously recommended that the Council continues with and 

promotes arrangements for making payments available to carers, to enable 
those with dependent children or close relatives to serve as Councillors. To date, 
such payments have been very rare but this does not detract from the principle 
and therefore the Panel recommends that these payments should be retained, 
and paid on submission of receipts at the following maximum rates: 

 
• for the care of dependent relatives or disabled children, £15.75 per 

hour. 
• for the care of dependent children up to the age of 15, £12.00 per 

hour. 
 
9.2  There exists a separate scheme to allow for reimbursement of the costs of travel 

outside the Borough including subsistence. This should remain in line with the 
scheme that operates for Council officers. Such payment requires the completion 
of a claim form with details relating to the mode of travel and the expenses 
incurred. This existing scheme should continue to be used for reimbursement of 
expenditure incurred in carrying out approved duties outside the borough. 

 
10. Parental Leave 
 
10.1 On reviewing the Scheme, the Panel noted that there are currently no provisions 

setting out the entitlement to the Basic Allowance or Special Responsibility 
Allowances on the occasion that Councillors are absent from their duties due to 
maternity, adoption or shared parental leave.  

 
10.2 The IRP also reviewed a motion on the subject of parental leave for Councillors 

made to the General Assembly of the Council and referred to the Panel.  
 
10.3 After considering various submissions on the matter and bearing in mind the 

need to encourage persons who share a relevant protected characteristic to 
participate in public life, the Panel recommends that the Members’ Allowance 
Scheme is amended to include the following provisions as a way of reaching a 
proportionate balance in the circumstances: 

 

Page 42Agenda Item 13



Parental Leave 
 
Basic Allowance 

 

All Councillors shall continue to receive their Basic Allowance in full, for a period up to 
six months, in the case of absence from their Councillor duties due to absence related 
to maternity, adoption or shared parental leave. 

 

Where, for reasons connected with maternity, adoption, or shared parental leave a 
Councillor is unable to attend meetings of the Council for a period of more than six 
consecutive months (from the date of their last attendance), a dispensation by the 
General Assembly of the Council must be sought in accordance with Section 85 of the 
Local Government Act 1972, within six months of the last attendance. This 
dispensation should be granted, so that the absence is no more than one year in total. 

 

Special Responsibility Allowance 

 

Reasonable and adequate arrangements shall be put in place to provide cover during 
any period of absence (by reason of maternity, adoption or shared parental leave) of 
a Councillor in receipt of a special responsibility allowance. Where a replacement 
(generally a deputy, lead member or vice chair) covers the period of absence, that 
person shall be remunerated in accordance with the deputy or vice chairman’s Special 
Responsibility Allowance referred to in the Scheme, where applicable.  

 

The original responsibility holder shall continue to receive the full Special 
Responsibility Allowance, but should the period of absence exceed six months, the 
General Assembly of the Council shall consider whether such arrangements should 
continue. 

 
If a Councillor stands down, or an election is held during the period when a Councillor 
is absent due to maternity, adoption or shared parental leave and the Councillor is not 
re-elected, their Basic Allowance and any Special Responsibility Allowance shall 
cease from the date on which they retire (i.e. on the fourth day after the ordinary day 
of election). 
 

11. Other Matters  
 
11.1 The Panel recommends that the sum of £300 per annum, be paid to Co-opted 

Members (i.e. Independent Members/Persons) appointed by the Council.  
 
  

Page 43 Agenda Item 13



 
Annex A 
Independent Remuneration Panel: Proposed Special Responsibility 
Allowances 2020-21 

£ 
 
Leader  34,082 
 
Other Special Responsibility Roles  
 
These are based on a percentage of the equivalent leader’s rate at a 33% voluntary capacity. 
 
Deputy Leader (60%)  18,177 
Shadow Leader (30%)  9,089 
Deputy Shadow Leader (60% of Shadow Leader)  5,453 
Other Group Leaders* (15%)  4,544 
Deputy Group Leader (60% of Other Group Leader)  2,727 
Cabinet Member (50% of Deputy Leader)  9,089 
Lead Member- Cabinet Delivery Team Leaders (25% of Cabinet Member)  2,272 
Chair of Development Control Board (60% of Cabinet Member)  5,453 
Vice Chair DC Board (33% of Chair)  1,800 
Shadow Chair DC Board (33% of Chair)  1,800 
Chair Strategic Housing Board (60% of Cabinet Member) 5,453   
Chair Scrutiny Committee (25% of Cabinet Member)  2,272 
Chair Audit Board (25% of Cabinet Member)  2,272 
Chair Policy and Overview Committee (25% of Cabinet Member)  2,272 
 
* for Groups with at least 5 seats, or 10% of the number of seats, whichever the greater 

 

 

Page 44Agenda Item 13



 

Appendix B 

 
 
 
 
 
MEMBERS’ ALLOWANCES SCHEME 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 

Change Control Notes Date 

Version 1 Original Version to be approved at 
GAC 

13th Jan 2020 

   

   

   

   

Page 45 Agenda Item 13



 

 
 

Contents 
  

 
Preamble 1 
1. Basic Allowance 2 
2. Special Responsibility Allowances 2 
3. Carer’s Allowance 2 
4. Travel and Subsistence Allowances 3 
5. Parental Leave 4 
6. Independent Persons 4 
7. Independent Remuneration Panel 4 
8. Other Duties 5 
9. Election to Forgo Allowances 5 
10. Part Year Entitlements 5 
11.  Payments and Claims 6 
12. Backdating 6 
13.  Repayment of Allowances 6 
14. Publicity 7 

 

Page 46Agenda Item 13



 - 1 - 

 
 

MEMBERS’ ALLOWANCES SCHEME 
 

Preamble 

This Members’ Allowances Scheme is made under the provisions of the Local Authorities 
(Members' Allowances) (England) Regulations 2003 (the 2003 Regulations) and any other 
regulations which may come into force from time to time. 
 
In making this Scheme, the Council has had regard to the recommendations contained in the 
Report of the Independent Remuneration Panel considered by the Meeting of the General 
Assembly of the Council on 13 January 2020. 
 
This Scheme shall have effect on 01 April 2020 and shall have effect thereafter. 
 
The Council has agreed that allowances can be increased by the same rate as increases in 
Council staff pay. 
 
Such an index shall be relied on for a period not exceeding four years whereupon a further 
recommendation of the Independent Remuneration Panel shall be sought in respect of the 
Council’s application of an index to its scheme.  
 
This Scheme may be amended at any time (having regard to the recommendation(s) of the 
Independent Remuneration Panel) but may only be revoked with effect from the beginning of 
the year.  Where this Scheme is revoked, the Council shall, before the revocation takes effect, 
make a further scheme. 
 
In this Scheme:- 

 
(a) ‘Councillor’ means a member of Dartford Borough Council who is a Councillor; 

 
 (b) ‘Year’ means the 12 months ending 31 March. 
        
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 47 Agenda Item 13



 - 2 - 

 
 

 

1. Basic Allowance 

 
Each Councillor shall be paid a basic allowance of £5,439 per year. 

2. Special Responsibility Allowances 

 
 (1) Subject to para. (2) below, the following special responsibility allowances shall be 

paid per year:  
 

Responsibility Allowance (£) 
Leader 334,082 
Deputy Leader 118,177 
Cabinet Member 9,089 
Lead Member/ Cabinet Delivery Team 
Leader 

2,272 

  
Chairmen  
Development Control Board 5,453 
Strategic Housing Board 5,453 
Audit Board 2,272 
Scrutiny Committee 2,272 
Policy Overview Committee 2,272 
  
Vice Chairman  
Development Control Board 1,800 
  
Shadow Chairman  
Development Control Board 1,800 

  
Other Group Leaders and Deputies 
 

 

Shadow Leader 9,089 
Deputy Shadow Leader 5,453 
Leader of any other Group that 
consists of 5 Members or 10% of the 
Council, whichever is the greater 

4,544 

Deputy Leader of any other Group that 
consists of 5 Members or 10% of the 
Council, whichever is the greater 

2,727 

  
Group Member  
Paid to Leader of any other Group that 
consists of 5 Members or 10% of the 
Council, whichever is the greater 

£255 per Group member 
excluding the Group Leader 

  

 
 (2) Group Leaders will be entitled to the Group Leader Allowance (for each member of 

their group) plus one other Special Responsibility Allowance. All other Members are 
entitled to receive only one Special Responsibility Allowance. 

3. Carer’s Allowance 

 
A carer’s allowance shall be paid where a Councillor has necessarily incurred 
expenditure for the care of children (up to the age of 15 years) or a dependent relative 
whilst undertaking the duties of the Council.   

 
 (1) Care of Dependent Relatives and Disabled Children £15.75 per hour 

(2) Childcare £12.00 per hour 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 48Agenda Item 13



 - 3 - 

 
 

4. Travel and Subsistence Allowances 

       
(1) Approved Duties 
  
 Subject to the provisions set out below, Travel and Subsistence Allowances will 

be paid to those Councillors and Co-opted Members attending meetings in 
respect of the following duties (the Approved Duties): 

 
 (a) A meeting of the Cabinet or any Committee of the Cabinet;  
 (b) A meeting of the Council or a Committee, Sub-committee or other body 

of the Council (for which proper notice is given); 
(c) A meeting held under joint arrangements with another authority (for 

which proper notice is given); 
(d) External Seminars, Conferences and Training (authorised by the 

Managing Director or a Strategic Director); 
 (e) Site meetings and inspections for which proper notice is given; 

(f) Formal meetings of Outside Bodies as a nominee of the Council to 
which an appointment has been made either by the Cabinet or the 
Council; 

(g) Any other duty which may from time to time be agreed by the Managing 
Director. 

 
(2) Subsistence Allowance 

 
(a) For Approved Duties outside the Borough, the following rates shall 

apply where a Councillor or a Co-Opted Member is prevented by official 
duties from eating at home and thereby incurs additional expenditure.  

 
NB: these rates are the maximum allowances payable and only actual costs 

will be paid, if lower: 
 

 Breakfast  up to  £8.00 

    

 Lunch  up to  £12.00 

    

EITHER Tea  up to £3.50 

OR    

 Evening 
Meal 

up to £15.00 
(after 
8:30p.m. 
only) 

  
(b) No subsistence allowance will be paid for Approved Duties within the 

Borough. 
 

(3) Travelling Expenses 
 
 (a) Mileage Allowances 

 
No travel expenses will be paid for journeys within the Borough. The following 
rates shall apply for journeys outside the Borough; 
 
Cars and Vans 
(all size of engine)    

45p per mile for the first 10,000 miles 
25p per mile over 10,000 miles 

  

Motor Cycles    24 per mile 

  

Bicycles     20p per mile 

 
 (b) Public Transport (Rail and Taxicabs) 
 

Taxicabs actual cost is reimbursed 

  

Train journeys second-class rail fare is reimbursed 

Page 49 Agenda Item 13



 - 4 - 

 
 

  

 
(4) Any representative (other than a Councillor) on an Outside Body will be entitled 

to claim travel allowances at the rates set out in para. 4.(3) above. 
 

(5) All claims for travelling and subsistence expenses must be accompanied by a 
receipt(s) and the completion of a claim form obtainable from Financial 
Services.  

 
5. Parental Leave 

  
(1) Basic Allowance 

 

All Councillors shall continue to receive their Basic Allowance in full, for a period up to 
six months, in the case of absence from their Councillor duties due to absence related 
to maternity, adoption or shared parental leave. 

 

Where, for reasons connected with maternity, adoption, or shared parental leave a 
Councillor is unable to attend meetings of the Council for a period of more than six 
consecutive months (from the date of their last attendance), a dispensation by the 
General Assembly of the Council must be sought in accordance with Section 85 of the 
Local Government Act 1972, within six months of the last attendance. This dispensation 
should be granted, so that the absence is no more than one year in total. 

 

(2) Special Responsibility Allowance 

 

Reasonable and adequate arrangements shall be put in place to provide cover during 
any period of absence (by reason of maternity, adoption or shared parental leave) of a 
Councillor in receipt of a special responsibility allowance. Where a replacement 
(generally a deputy, lead member or vice chair) covers the period of absence, that 
person shall be remunerated in accordance with the deputy or vice chairman’s Special 
Responsibility Allowance referred to in the Scheme, where applicable.  

 

The original responsibility holder shall continue to receive the full Special Responsibility 
Allowance, but should the period of absence exceed six months, the General Assembly 
of the Council shall consider whether such arrangements should continue. 

 
If a Councillor stands down, or an election is held during the period when a Councillor is 
absent due to maternity, adoption or shared parental leave and the Councillor is not re-
elected, their Basic Allowance and any Special Responsibility Allowance shall cease 
from the date on which they retire (i.e. on the fourth day after the ordinary day of 
election). 

 
6. Independent Persons 
 

The following allowance shall be paid: 
 

Council’s Independent Person £300 per year (includes attendance at training 
sessions) 
 

7. Independent Remuneration Panel 

The following allowances shall be paid: 

 
Independent Remuneration Panel members £293 per year, per member (includes attendance at 

training sessions) 
£14.57 hourly rate 
 

 

Page 50Agenda Item 13



 - 5 - 

 
 

8. Other Duties 

 
A Councillor who is also a member of another authority shall not be entitled to the 
receipt of allowances from both, in respect of the same duty(ies). 

9. Election to Forgo Allowances 

 
Any Councillor or Co-opted Member may, in writing to the Managing Director, elect to 
forgo any part of their entitlement to allowances under this Scheme. 

10. Part Year Entitlements 

 
(1) If an amendment to this Scheme during any year changes the amount of basic 

allowance or special responsibility allowance to which a Councillor is entitled, 
the entitlement of the Councillor to such allowance is in respect of the following 
periods:- 

 
  (a) beginning with 1 April and ending with the day before the first or only 

amendment during that year takes effect; 
 
  (b) beginning with the day an amendment takes effect and ending with the 

day before the next amendment during that year takes effect; or 
 

  (c) beginning with the day an amendment takes effect and ending with the 
31 March; will be to payment of the proportion which the number of 
days in period (a), (b) or (c) bears to the number of days in that year. 

 
 (2) Where the term of the Councillor begins or ends during the course of a year, 

his/her entitlement to a basic allowance will be to the payment of the proportion 
which the number of days which he/she held office during that year bears to the 
number of days in that year. 

 
 (3) Where an amendment to the Scheme during any year changes the amount of 

basic allowance to which a Councillor is entitled and the Councillor does not 
hold office in that year throughout the period beginning with the 1 April and 
ending with the day before the amendment takes effect ("the Payment Period"), 
his/her entitlement to a basic allowance in respect of the Payment Period will be 
to payment of the proportion which the number of days in which he/she has 
held office during the Payment Period bears to the number of days in the 
Payment Period. 

 
 (4) Where a Councillor has during only part of a year a special responsibility 

entitling him/her to a special responsibility allowance, his/her entitlement to a 
special responsibility allowance shall be to payment of the proportion which the 
number of days during which he/she has had such special responsibility bears 
to the number of days in that year. 

 
 (5) Where an amendment to the Scheme during any year changes the amount of 

special responsibility allowance to which a Councillor is entitled, and that 
Councillor has had a special responsibility entitling him/her to a special 
responsibility allowance during only part of the year beginning on the 1 April 
and ending with the day before the amendment takes effect ("the Allowance 
Period"), his/her entitlement to special responsibility allowance will be to 
payment of the proportion which the number of days in which he/she has had 
the special responsibility during the Allowance Period bears to the number of 
days in the Allowance Period. 

 
 (6) Where a Councillor becomes or ceases to be a member of the Council, or 

accepts or relinquishes any special responsibility for which an allowance is 
paid, allowances will be paid pro-rata to the number of days during the year 
which he/she was a Councillor or held the special responsibility. 

Page 51 Agenda Item 13



 - 6 - 

 
 

11.  Payments and Claims 

 
(1) The Council shall make payments in respect of basic, special responsibility and 

travel allowances, in instalments of 1/12th (of the year's total, per month) of the 
amounts specified in this Scheme on the 15th day of the month in respect of 
which the Councillor's entitlement arose (or on the last working day before the 
15th of the month if the day falls on a Saturday, Sunday or Bank Holiday). 

 
(2) Any claim for payment of carers (dependents and childcare) and travel and 

subsistence allowances under this Scheme shall be made within two months of 
the date of the duty to which the allowance relates.  Claims shall not be paid 
unless supported by a receipt confirming that the expenditure has been 
incurred.  The Council may make a payment where the allowance is not 
claimed within the period specified. 

12. Backdating 

 
Any amendments made during the year to the amounts payable under this Scheme 
may be backdated to the beginning of the year.  
 

13.  Repayment of Allowances 

 
(1) A special responsibility allowance is payable in monthly instalments to those 

Members who hold the positions of special responsibility listed in para. 2 above.  
Members are elected/appointed to and removed from positions of special 
responsibility as follows: 

 
(a) Leader of the Council – elected and removed from office by the GAC in 

accordance with Standing Orders 4 & 4A; 
(b) Deputy Leader – appointed and removed from office by the Leader of 

the Council on notice to the Proper Officer for report to the GAC 
(Standing Order 4B); 

(c) Cabinet members/Lead member – appointed and removed from office 
by the Leader of the Council on notice to the Proper Officer for report to 
the GAC (Standing Order 4D); 

(d) Shadow Leader & Deputy Shadow Leader – appointed and removed 
from office by the largest party in opposition on the Council on notice to 
the Proper Officer for report to the GAC (Standing Order 5); 

(e) Other Group Leader & Deputy Group Leader – appointed and removed 
from office by members of the Group on notice to the Proper Office for 
report to the GAC; 

(f) Chairman/Vice – chairman & Shadow Chairman of the committees 
listed in para.2 above – appointments to and removal from office in 
accordance with the wishes of the Group Leaders, on notice to the 
Proper Officer for report to the GAC. 

 
(2) The basic allowance is claimable by all Members in monthly instalments. 

 
(3)  Where payment of an allowance has already been made in respect of any 

period during which the Member concerned: 
 

(a) ceases to be a member of the Council; or 
(b) is in any way not entitled to receive the allowance in respect of that 

period, 
 

the Council may require that such part of the allowance as relates to any such 
period shall be repaid to the Council. 
 
 

Page 52Agenda Item 13



 - 7 - 

 
 

14. Publicity 

 
(1) As soon as reasonably practicable after determining a scheme of allowances, 

the Managing Director will ensure that a copy of the Scheme is available for 
inspection and publicised in accordance with the 2003 Regulations. 

 
(2) As soon as practicable after 1 April each year the Managing Director shall make 

arrangements for the publication of the total paid to each Member in each 
category of allowance specified in this Scheme, in the preceding year. 

Page 53 Agenda Item 13



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 54



GENERAL ASSEMBLY OF THE COUNCIL 
13 January 2020 

 

JOINT TRANSPORTATION BOARD AGREEMENT WITH KENT COUNTY 
COUNCIL AND PARISH REPRESENTATION 

 

 
1. Summary 
 

1.1 To adopt the proposed new agreement governing the work of the Joint 
Transportation Board (JTB) with Kent County Council and to increase the 
Parish/Town Council representation for 2019/20 from one to two members. 

 
2. RECOMMENDATION 

2.1  That the General Assembly of the Council adopts the new Joint Transportation 
Board Agreement with Kent County Council and agrees an increase in the 
Parish/Town Council  representation, to two members, for 2019/20. 

 
3. Background and Discussion 

 
3.1. The current legal agreement between the Council and Kent County 

Council was made in May 2005 and although this has operated well it is 
good practice to review working arrangements periodically. The 
agreement has been revisited through the Kent Secretaries group which 
comprises legal representatives from all of the District and Borough 
Councils in Kent and Kent County Council. A revised agreement is 
attached at Appendix A to the report and includes a provision for review 
every four years.  

3.2. The current JTB Agreement provides for there to be one Parish 
representative on the JTB and this position is vacant. During Autumn 
2019 the Parishes and Swanscombe and Greenhithe Town Council 
were asked for their nominations to fill the vacancy and two candidates 
were proposed. An election was therefore conducted which resulted in 
4 votes for each of the candidates, Yvonne Seymour (Darenth Parish 
Council) and Stephanie Thredgle (Stone Parish Council). 

 
3.3. The new JTB Agreement provides for the JTB to agree for there to be a 

number of parish/town council representatives, not less than one and no 
greater than three. In view of the equality of votes between the two 
candidates nominated by the parishes/town council it is proposed that 
the number of parish representatives on the JTB should be set at two for 
the 2019/20 Municipal Year and that both candidates should be 
appointed. 
 

3.4. The JTB Agreement and proposed increase in Parish/Town Council 
representation was considered and endorsed by the Cabinet at its 
meeting on 5 December 2019 [Min.No. 73/2019-20]. 
 

  

Page 55 Agenda Item 14



GENERAL ASSEMBLY OF THE COUNCIL 
13 January 2020 

 
4. Relationship to the Corporate Plan 
 
4.1 The JTB Agreement underpins good governance and supports the 

themes of ‘A Council Performing Strongly’ and ‘Working in Partnership’. 
 
5. Financial, legal, staffing and other administrative implications and risk 

assessments 
 

Financial Implications None 

Legal Implications None 

Staffing Implications None 

Administrative 
Implications 

None  

Risk Assessment No uncertainties and/or constraints 

 
  
6. Details of Exempt Information Category 
 

 Not applicable 
 
7. Appendices 
 

Appendix A – Joint Transportation Board Agreement 2020 
 

 
 

BACKGROUND PAPERS 
 

Documents consulted Date / 
File Ref 

Report Author Section and 
Directorate 

Exempt 
Information 
Category 

 
Joint Transportation Board 
agreements 2005 and 2020 

 Alan Twyman 
Democratic Services 
Manager 
(01322) 343430 

Strategic 
Director 
(Internal 
Services) 

N/A 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 56Agenda Item 14



GENERAL ASSEMBLY OF THE COUNCIL 
13 January 2020 

 
 
 
 
         Appendix A 
 
 

DATED (DAY/MONTH/YEAR) 
 

 
 

THE KENT COUNTY COUNCIL 
 

-and- 
 

THE DISTRICT/BOROUGH COUNCIL 
 
 
 

AGREEMENT ON 
JOINT TRANSPORTATION BOARDS 

 
 
 

Legal & Secretariat 
Kent County Council 
County Hall 
Maidstone 
Kent ME14 1XQ 

 
File ref: 
Fax No: 01622 694402 
WP Ref: 
DX No: 
Tel: 
 
 

Page 57 Agenda Item 14



GENERAL ASSEMBLY OF THE COUNCIL 
13 January 2020 

 
THIS DEED OF AGREEMENT is made the (day) of (month) two thousand and 
nineteen between THE KENT COUNTY COUNCIL of County Hall Maidstone 
Kent ME14 1XQ of the one part (hereinafter referred to as “KCC”) and (NAME 
OF DISTRICT/BOROUGH) of (address) (hereinafter referred to as the 
“Council”) of the other part. 
 
In this Agreement the words and expressions contained or referred to 
hereunder shall have the meaning thereby ascribed to them in the Second 
Schedule. The clause headings do not form part of this Agreement and shall 
not be taken in its construction or interpretation. 
 
WHEREAS: 
 
1. KCC and the Council are local authorities as defined by Section 270(1) 

of the 1972 Act. 
 

2. By virtue of Section 1(2) of the 1972 Act KCC is the local highway 
authority for all the highways in the County of Kent whether or not 
maintainable at the public expense (and which are not highways for 
which the Secretary of State for Transport is the highway authority) and 
is by enactments also the traffic authority and street works authority. 

 
3. KCC and the Council have agreed to act together to continue with certain 

democratic arrangements previously established in relation to highway 
issues. 

 
4. This Agreement reflects the intention of KCC and the Council to co-

operate regarding highway and transportation issues in the interests of 
the residents of Kent and supersedes that of the current agreement. 
 

 DEFINITIONS AND INTERPRETATIONS 
 
5. In this Agreement unless the context otherwise requires the following 

terms shall have the following meanings: 
 

“1972 Act”      : the Local Government 
Act 1972 
 
“Agreement”      : these terms and 
conditions together         the First 
Schedule 
 
“Authorities”      : the Council and KCC 
 
“Council - local member”    : an elected member of 
the Council 
 
“JTB Members”     : KCC - local members 
and Council         - local members 
who have been         

Page 58Agenda Item 14



GENERAL ASSEMBLY OF THE COUNCIL 
13 January 2020 

 
 appointed to membership of the       
   JTB 

 
“KCC – local member” :  the elected member for 

KCC’s    electoral 
divisions within the   
 Council’s administrative area 

 
 
COMMENCEMENT AND OPERATING TERM 
 
6. This Agreement shall commence on the effective date on the face hereof 

and shall continue until terminated by either party in writing in 
accordance with the provisions of this Agreement. 

 
COUNCIL OBLIGATIONS 
 
7. The Council shall establish and maintain during the currency of this 

Agreement the arrangements for the Joint Transportation Board as set 
out in the First Schedule. 

 
KCC OBLIGATIONS 
 
8. KCC shall establish and maintain during the currency of this Agreement 

the arrangements for the Joint Transportation Board as set out in the 
First Schedule. 

 
MISCELLANEOUS 
 

9. The parties acknowledge that amendments to the constitutions of KCC 
and/or the Council may result in the need for consequential changes to 
this Agreement. 

 
10. This Agreement shall be known as the JTB Agreement. 

 
11. Nothing in this Agreement shall create a legal partnership between the 

parties and save as may be specifically provided in this Agreement 
neither party shall be or hold itself out as or permit itself to be held out 
as :- 

 
a) the agent of the other; or 
b) entitled to pledge the credit of the other; or 
c) entitled to incur any other obligations or make any promise or 

representation on behalf of the other. 
 
REVIEW 
 
12. This Agreement shall be reviewed every four years or sooner at the 

instigation of both parties and amended by agreement between the 
parties if necessary, as a consequence of any review.   

 

Page 59 Agenda Item 14



GENERAL ASSEMBLY OF THE COUNCIL 
13 January 2020 

 
13. This Agreement may be terminated by either party on six months written 

notice addressed to the relevant Council’s Chief Executive/KCC’s 
Corporate Director responsible for Highways and Transportation. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 60Agenda Item 14



GENERAL ASSEMBLY OF THE COUNCIL 
13 January 2020 

 
FIRST SCHEDULE 

 
Joint Transportation Boards 

 
1.1 A Joint Transportation Board (JTB) shall be established by the 

Authorities. 
 
1.2 Each Authority shall be responsible for its own costs incurred in the 

operation of the JTB. 
 
1.3 The JTB shall be a non-statutory advisory forum. 
 
Membership 
 
2.1 JTB membership shall comprise all KCC - local members with an equal 

number of Council - local members appointed by the Council. JTB 
Members will have voting rights. The Council may appoint substitutes for 
its JTB Members. 

 
2.2 The JTB shall agree a number of parish/town council representatives, 

not less than one and no greater than three from within the Council’s 
administrative area. Parish/town council representatives shall be 
nominated by the area committee of the Kent Association of Parish 
Councils or other representative body for parish/town councils within the 
Council’s administrative area if this provides a more complete 
representation. Substitute members may also be nominated.  
Parish/town council representatives can speak on matters but don’t have 
voting rights nor can they propose motions and amendments. 

 
2.3 Any JTB Member may request of the Chairman an item to be considered 

for inclusion on the JTB agenda. Any Council- local member may attend 
and speak at a meeting of the JTB but may not vote nor propose a motion 
or an amendment.  

 
2.4 The Chairman of any parish/town council within the administrative area 

of the Council (or a parish/town councillor of that parish/town council 
nominated by him/her) may attend any meeting to speak with the 
permission of the Chairman on any item on the agenda of particular 
reference to that parish/town council. 

 
 
Chairman 
 
3 The Chairman and Vice Chairman shall alternate on an annual basis 

between a  KCC local member (who is a JTB Member) and a Council 
local member (who is a JTB Member). 

 
 
 
 
 

Page 61 Agenda Item 14



GENERAL ASSEMBLY OF THE COUNCIL 
13 January 2020 

 
Meetings 
 
4.1 The JTB shall generally meet four times a year on dates and at times 

and venues to be specified by the Council in accordance with its normal 
constitutional arrangements in consultation with KCC.  

 
4.2 Six weeks prior to each JTB meeting the Chairman, Vice-Chairman and 

relevant officers from the Authorities will discuss and set the agenda for 
the forthcoming meeting. The final decision on agenda items shall be 
determined by the Chairman in consultation with the Vice Chairman. 
Agenda items will be split between Part A (recommendations for decision 
by KCC), Part B (recommendations for decisions by the Council) and ‘for 
information’ reports.  

 
4.3 The quorum for a JTB meeting shall be four comprising at least two 

voting KCC local- members and two Council – local members who are 
also JTB Members. 

 
4.4 Subject to the procedural rules in paragraphs 2, 3, 4.2 and 4.3 above 

taking precedence, the Council’s procedural rules shall apply to JTB 
meetings as if they were Council committees. 

 
4.5 The JTB will be clerked by an officer of the Council. Officers of the 

Authorities shall be expected to attend JTB meetings to present reports. 
 
4.6 At the discretion of the Chairman, members of the public may speak for 

a maximum of three minutes. The number of speakers will be at the 
discretion of the Chairman.  

 
4.7 The access to information principles shall be applied to the JTB as if it 

were a Council committee. 
 
4.8 The clerk shall produce minutes of the meeting, a copy of which shall be 

sent to KCC’s Cabinet Member for Planning, Highways, Transport and 
Waste. 

 
Terms of reference 
 
5.1 The role of the JTB is to advise the relevant Authority on highways and 

transportation works scheduled and completed. The JTB shall consider: 
 

i. capital and revenue funded works programmes; 
ii. traffic regulation orders; 
iii. street management proposals. 

 
5.2 The JTB may advise and recommend in relation to:  
 

i. strategic parking and waiting restriction issues; 
ii. petitions received in relation to parking and waiting restrictions; 
iii. Council street lighting schemes on highways; 
iv. local transport strategy.   

Page 62Agenda Item 14



GENERAL ASSEMBLY OF THE COUNCIL 
13 January 2020 

 
 
5.3 The JTB shall be a forum for consultation between the Authorities on 

policies, plans and strategies related to highways, road traffic and public 
transport. 

 
5.4 The JTB shall review the progress and out turn of works and business 

performance indicators. 
 
5.5 The JTB shall receive reports on highways and transportation needs 

within the administrative area of the Council. 
 
Petition Discussions 
 
6.1 Where a petition is agreed as being appropriate for discussion at the 

JTB, it shall be received at a meeting of the JTB. No further discussion 
shall take place on the petition until the next meeting of the JTB. 

 
6.2 The lead petitioner shall be invited to submit a written statement of up to 

500 words which should be sent to the Council to arrive by 5pm one 
week prior to the next JTB meeting. At that meeting, the lead petitioner 
shall be invited to speak for no more than three minutes. 

 
6.3 The JTB shall not debate a petition on the same decision/issue as one 

debated in the previous twelve months.  
 
 
Overview and Scrutiny 
 
7.1 The Authorities’ Overview and Scrutiny Committees or equivalent may 

invite the JTB Chairman or Vice Chairman to attend their meetings to 
make representations, answer questions or give evidence. This is 
without prejudice to any ability of the Overview and Scrutiny Committees 
or equivalent of the Authorities to compel attendance of executive 
members and officers under Section 21 of the Local Government Act 
2000. 

 
Executive Action 
 
8.1 JTB advice/views shall be submitted to the Authorities’ Cabinet in 

accordance with the Authorities’ constitutional arrangements.  
 
EXECUTED as a DEED by KCC and the Council the day and year first before 
written 
 
THE COMMON SEAL of the KENT ) 
COUNTY COUNCIL was hereunto ) 
affixed in the presence of:- 
 
 
Authorised Signatory 
 

Page 63 Agenda Item 14



GENERAL ASSEMBLY OF THE COUNCIL 
13 January 2020 

 
 
 
THE COMMON SEAL of DISTRICT/) 
BOROUGH COUNIL was hereunto ) 
affixed In the presence of:- 
 
 
 
Authorised Signatory 
 

Page 64Agenda Item 14



                              

GENERAL ASSEMBLY OF THE COUNCIL 
13 JANUARY 2020 

 
ADOPTION OF THE INTERNATIONAL HOLOCAUST REMEMBRANCE 
ALLIANCE DEFINITION OF ANTISEMITISM 

 

 
1. Summary 

 

1.1 The report seeks Members’ approval to adopt the International Remembrance 
Alliance definition of antisemitism. 

 
2. RECOMMENDATIONS 
 
2.1 That the International Holocaust Remembrance Alliance’s definition of 

antisemitism, and working examples, as set out in the body of the report, be 
adopted. 

2.2   That Officers consider whether the Member Code of Conduct might be amended 
to apply the IHRA definition of antisemitism in the broader context of respect, 
tolerance, inter-faith understanding and equality. 

 

 
3. Background and Discussion 
 

 
3.1. The International Holocaust Remembrance Alliance (IHRA) brings 

together governments and experts to strengthen, advance and promote 
Holocaust education, research and remembrance. On 26 May 2016 in 
Bucharest, the Plenary of the IHRA adopted a non-legally binding 
working definition of antisemitism: 

“Antisemitism is a certain perception of Jews, which may be expressed 
as hatred toward Jews. Rhetorical and physical manifestations of 
antisemitism are directed toward Jewish or non-Jewish individuals 
and/or their property, toward Jewish community institutions and religious 
facilities.” 
 

3.2. Examples to help the IHRA itself and other organisations with application 
of the definition were also published and are set out below: 

Manifestations might include the targeting of the state of Israel, 
conceived as a Jewish collectivity. However, criticism of Israel similar to 
that leveled against any other country cannot be regarded as anti-
Semitic. Antisemitism frequently charges Jews with conspiring to harm 
humanity, and it is often used to blame Jews for “why things go wrong.” 
It is expressed in speech, writing, visual forms and action, and employs 
sinister stereotypes and negative character traits. 
  
Contemporary examples of antisemitism in public life, the media, 
schools, the workplace, and in the religious sphere could, taking into 
account the overall context, include, but are not limited to: 

Page 65 Agenda Item 15



                              

GENERAL ASSEMBLY OF THE COUNCIL 
13 JANUARY 2020 

 

 Calling for, aiding, or justifying the killing or harming of Jews in the name 
of a radical ideology or an extremist view of religion. 
  

 Making mendacious, dehumanizing, demonizing, or stereotypical 
allegations about Jews as such or the power of Jews as collective — 
such as, especially but not exclusively, the myth about a world Jewish 
conspiracy or of Jews controlling the media, economy, government or 
other societal institutions.  

 

 Accusing Jews as a people of being responsible for real or imagined 
wrongdoing committed by a single Jewish person or group, or even for 
acts committed by non-Jews. 
 

 Denying the fact, scope, mechanisms (e.g. gas chambers) or 
intentionality of the genocide of the Jewish people at the hands of 
National Socialist Germany and its supporters and accomplices during 
World War II (the Holocaust). 

 

 Accusing the Jews as a people, or Israel as a state, of inventing or 
exaggerating the Holocaust. 

 

 Accusing Jewish citizens of being more loyal to Israel, or to the alleged 
priorities of Jews worldwide, than to the interests of their own nations. 
 

 Denying the Jewish people their right to self-determination, e.g., by 
claiming that the existence of a State of Israel is a racist endeavor. 

 

 Applying double standards by requiring of it a behavior not expected or 
demanded of any other democratic nation. 
 

 Using the symbols and images associated with classic antisemitism 
(e.g., claims of Jews killing Jesus or blood libel) to characterize Israel or 
Israelis. 

 

 Drawing comparisons of contemporary Israeli policy to that of the Nazis. 
 

 Holding Jews collectively responsible for actions of the state of Israel. 
  
Anti-Semitic acts are criminal when they are so defined by law (for 
example, denial of the Holocaust or distribution of anti-Semitic materials 
in some countries). 
 
Criminal acts are anti-Semitic when the targets of attacks, whether they 
are people or property – such as buildings, schools, places of worship 
and cemeteries – are selected because they are, or are perceived to be, 
Jewish or linked to Jews. 
 
Anti-Semitic discrimination is the denial to Jews of opportunities or 
services available to others and is illegal in many countries. 
  

Page 66Agenda Item 15



                              

GENERAL ASSEMBLY OF THE COUNCIL 
13 JANUARY 2020 

 
3.3. The Government has urged all councils to adopt the definition and 

working examples and this report proposes that this Council does so. It 
is additionally suggested that Officers consider whether the Members’ 
Code of Conduct might be amended to apply the IHRA definition of 
antisemitism in the broader context of respect, tolerance, inter-faith 
understanding and equality. 

 
4. Relationship to the Corporate Plan 
 
Strategic Objective SC3 of the Corporate Plan seeks to increase public 

perception of the Borough as a safe place.  

 
5. Financial, legal, staffing and other implications and risk assessments* 
 

Financial Implications None 

Legal Implications 

  

The definition is non-legally binding.    

 

Public Sector Equality 
Duty 

Crime and Disorder duty 

The Council has a duty to eliminate unlawful 
discrimination, harassment and victimisation. 
Adoption of the IHRA definition supports both this 
duty and the Council’s duty under Section 17 of 
the Crime and Disorder Act by demonstrating the 
Council’s determination to challenge 
antisemitism and hate crime in all its forms. 

Staffing Implications None 

Administrative 
Implications 

None  

Risk Assessment No uncertainties and/or constraints 

  
6. Details of Exempt Information Category 
 

 Not applicable. 
  

7. Appendices 
 

None. 
 
 

BACKGROUND PAPERS 
Documents consulted Date / 

File Ref 
Report Author Section and 

Directorate 
Exempt 

Information 
Category 

 
  Sheri Green 

(01322) 343125 
Sarah Martin 
(01322) 343632 

 N/A 

 

Page 67 Agenda Item 15



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 68



1 

CHAIRMAN’S 

INITIALS 

DARTFORD BOROUGH COUNCIL 
 

CABINET 
 

MINUTES of the meeting of the Cabinet held on Thursday 31 October 2019 at 7.00 
pm  

 
PRESENT: 
 

Councillor J A Kite, MBE (Chairman) 
Councillor C J Shippam (Vice-Chairman) 
Councillor Mrs A D Allen, MBE 
Councillor S H Brown 
Councillor A R Lloyd 
Councillor Mrs P A Thurlow 
Councillor R J Wells 
 

  
 

 
44. APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE  

 
There were no apologies for absence. 
 
The Cabinet noted the ongoing absence of the Managing Director, Graham 
Harris, due to illness and expressed its best wishes to him for a full and 
speedy recovery.  
 

45. DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST  
 
There were no declarations of interests. 
 

46. CONFIRMATION OF THE MINUTES OF THE MEETING OF THE CABINET 
HELD ON 5 SEPTEMBER 2019  
 
 RESOLVED:  
 
That the minutes of the Cabinet meeting held on 5th September 2019 be 
confirmed as an accurate record. 
 

47. URGENT ITEMS  
 
There were no urgent items. 
 

48. TO RECEIVE THE MINUTES OF THE CABINET ADVISORY PANEL HELD 
ON 28 OCTOBER 2019  
 
The Cabinet received the minutes of the meeting of the Cabinet Advisory 
Panel A held on 28th October 2019 and had regard to the Panel’s views 
throughout the meeting. 
 

49. REFERENCES FROM COMMITTEES  
 
There were no references from other Committees.  
 

Page 69 Agenda Item 16



CABINET 
THURSDAY 31 OCTOBER 2019 

 

2 

CHAIRMAN’S 

INITIALS 

50. CONSULTATION ON THE DARTFORD LOCAL PLAN REVIEW 
PREFERRED OPTIONS  
 
The Planning Policy Manager introduced a report which presented the current 
consultation on the review of the Local Plan at the mid-stage phase and the 
‘Preferred Options’ document indicating the proposed direction of travel in 
producing a new Local Plan. The report described the direction of travel for 
long term development in the Borough until 2036, and summarised the 
content, including the vision/objectives, preferred options and alternatives and 
timetable for submission with a view to the plan being formally adopted in 
2021 following publication of a final document in Spring 2020, submission to 
the Secretary of State and examination by an Independent Planning 
Inspector. The report also outlined studies carried out to support the new 
Local Plan, the Five Year Deliverable Housing land Supply and the proposed 
public consultation process.   
 
The report contained a key diagram on page 66 of the agenda which 
illustrated the long term sustainable development pattern for Dartford and it 
was confirmed that there would be no strategic release of green belt land for 
housing given the Council’s strong position in terms of delivering housing 
without the need to build on the green belt.  The Local Plan would focus 
development in Dartford Town Centre and Ebbsfleet Garden City.  Ebbsfleet 
Central, Kent Road/Hythe Street and the former Littlebrook Power Station site 
were proposed as strategic sites for development. There were still 
uncertainties over the theme park development on the Swanscombe 
peninsula so the preferred approach was for this to be potentially developed 
as a lower density mixed use development including some residential, 
enhanced employment and a park. The ‘Preferred Options’ document would 
go through a six week public consultation process starting in early November. 
Members’ attention was drawn to the minor changes and errata document 
that had been issued as a supplement to the document in the published 
agenda. 
 
The Chairman noted that the Public Inspector considering Sevenoaks District 
Council’s Local Plan had called a halt to the inspection citing the Council’s 
failure to consult on its Local Plan fully enough with neighbouring authorities 
and asked whether there was a risk of the Council’s process being similarly 
challenged at the inspection stage. The Planning Policy Manager said that, 
whilst there was some risk, he felt that Dartford was better placed than most 
authorities because of its strong position on housing supply and that Dartford 
did not have a heavy functional relationship with Sevenoaks in terms of 
housing. The Cabinet asked for it to be made clear in the Council’s 
submission that it felt that it had been properly consulted by Sevenoaks 
District Council on the Sevenoaks Local Plan and enjoyed working with that 
local authority.    
 
The Cabinet had regard to the comments made by the Cabinet Advisory 
Panel, which had endorsed the recommendations contained in the report. 
 
 

RESOLVED: 

Page 70Agenda Item 16



CABINET 
THURSDAY 31 OCTOBER 2019 

 
 

3 

CHAIRMAN’S 

INITIALS 

 
1. That the Preferred Options Local Plan (attached at Appendix A to the 

report), with the changes contained in the Minor Changes and Errata 
document issued on 30th October, be approved for public consultation, 
for a six week period, starting in early November 2019; 

 

2. That authority be delegated to the Head of Regeneration for non-
material and minor editing amendments to the text, tables and 
illustrations and amendments to layout and formatting of the Preferred 
Options consultation document (attached as Appendix A to the report); 

 
3.   That authority be delegated to the Head of Regeneration, in consultation 

with the Leader of the Council, for amendments and inclusions which 
are non-minor or additional, including illustrations to the Preferred 
Options consultation document (attached at Appendix A to the report), 
providing these are consistent with the principles and policy approaches 
set out in the document at Appendix A; 

4.   That the consultation arrangements set out at paragraph 5.1 to the 
report, be agreed; and 

5.  That evidence, including the 2019 Five Year Deliverable Housing Land 
Supply, attached at Appendix B to the report, be noted. 

 
51. LA SUPPORT (ENVIRONMENTAL ENFORCEMENT CONTRACT 

EXTENSION AND FURTHER OFFENCES PROPOSAL  
 
The Cabinet considered a report which proposed new contract arrangements 
with LA Support Limited (formerly Kingdom Services Group Limited) that 
would see a new agreed financial split between it and the Council and expand 
the current Litter and Dog Fouling Enforcement Scheme for a further 2 years 
from 25th January 2020 to include a range of other offences, including Littering 
from Vehicles, Commercial (Trade) Waste offences, Fly Posting, Graffiti and 
Public Space Protection Order breaches. The background to the existing 
contract, which had been introduced in 2016 for a trial period, following public 
consultation in 2015 and extensive public support, had been awarded for a 3 
year period beginning in January 2017. The current contract had proved to be 
very effective in dealing with littering and from 25th January 2016 until 31st 
August 2019 11,435 fixed penalty notices (FPN’s) had been issued with a 
payment rate of 72%. The litter FPN’s were issued at £75 and £50 for dog 
fouling, which was at the lower end of the spectrum where fines were issued 
by local authorities. £42 of each litter FPN was retained by LA Support Limited 
to fund the Enforcement Officers and £33 retained by the Council. So far the 
Council had paid LA Support Limited £466,450 and collected £602,680 
realising an income of £136,230. The Council also took legal action against 
offenders who did not pay the FPN and had been awarded court costs of 
£50,980 against expenditure of £25,100.  
 

Page 71 Agenda Item 16



CABINET 
THURSDAY 31 OCTOBER 2019 

 

4 

CHAIRMAN’S 

INITIALS 

The terms of the existing contract with LA Support Limited contained a 
provision for the contract to be extended by a further two years and for the 
addition of the additional offences and the contractor was keen to broaden the 
pool of offences. Officers had examined the experience of other authorities 
where a wider range of offences were enforced and concluded that the 
enforcement delivered positive results. The proposed financial split of 70:30 
on all Fixed Penalty Charges (FPN’s) that had been paid by offenders would 
deliver a projected annual income to the Council of £133,995 which could be 
reinvested to support the Council’s corporate priorities and keep the borough 
clean and tidy. These extended activities would complement the Council’s 
existing enforcement activities on such matters as fly tipping and fly posting 
and it made sense to use the Enforcement Officers’ ‘eyes on the ground’ to 
help to take action on these matters.  
 
The Cabinet noted that there had been considerable discussion of this item by 
the Cabinet Advisory Panel and noted the views expressed by Members at 
that meeting. The Chairman stressed that it was important to consider 
whether it was right to fine people who dropped litter and whether LA Support 
Limited were enforcing the existing offences reasonably. He felt that the 
purpose of the activity was to reduce incidents of littering and that the virtual 
absence of any repeat offending demonstrated that enforcement did work 
and, importantly, that it educated and deterred people from re-offending. He 
felt that LA Support Limited was operating to the standard stipulated by the 
Council and was doing so in a fair and reasonable manner. He also felt that, 
although the Council was aware of a small amount of criticism, particularly 
from those who had received a penalty, the majority of residents supported 
the enforcement activity and recognised that the purpose was to deliver a 
cleaner and sustainable local environment. He had met with two Members of 
the Cabinet Advisory Panel to discuss their concerns relating to the 
recommended contract extension and had had a positive meeting. Whilst it 
was true that a large proportion of Fixed Penalty Notices (FPN’s) related to 
dropped cigarette butts this was because the Enforcement Officers could only 
enforce the activities that they had observed and this was the prevalent 
offence. In terms of the way that the report and contract had been originally 
framed he felt that greater emphasis could have been placed on the 
environmental deliverables rather on gross income as the purpose of the 
enforcement activity was to change behaviours rather than to generate 
income and that any new future contract should focus on ethical and 
environmental justifications. Given that the Council had created a Working 
Group on Climate Change the Chairman suggested that it might be 
appropriate to use part of the Council’s share of the money derived from 
enforcement to fund sustainable projects identified by the Working Group.   
This view was supported by other Members of the Cabinet. It was also noted 
that the extension of the range of offences would provide more effective 
enforcement powers to deal with dumped commercial waste and fly posting.  
 

RESOLVED: 
 

1. That the extension of the existing LA Support Limited contract for a further 
two years period from 25th January 2020 to January 2022 be approved; 

 

Page 72Agenda Item 16



CABINET 
THURSDAY 31 OCTOBER 2019 

 
 

5 

CHAIRMAN’S 

INITIALS 

2. That an additional range of offences be included in the contract, as detailed 
in Appendix A to the report; and  

 
3. That the revised financial split proposal, as detailed in paragraph 6.3 of the 

report, be approved. 
 

52. ACCEPTANCE OF TENDER - HOUSING REPAIRS AND MAINTENANCE 
MEASURED TERM CONTRACT  
 
The Cabinet considered a report which provided details of the tenders for the 
Housing Repairs and Maintenance Measured Term Contract to deliver 
reactive repairs, void property works, disabled adaptations, out-of-hours 
repairs and programmed works to the Council’s housing stock and appoint a 
successful contractor from April 2020. The report explained the detailed 
tender and evaluation process and consultation carried out with tenants and 
leaseholders. By combining housing responsive and planned works elements 
and increasing the overall value of the contract, economies of scale could be 
achieved to deliver savings and efficiencies whilst delivering a high quality of 
service to the Council, its tenants and leaseholders.  Five of the six 
companies that had been invited to submit formal tenders had submitted bids 
and the outcome of the evaluation process was detailed in exempt Appendix 
A to the report. The Cabinet noted the need to nominate three Members to 
serve on the proposed Housing Maintenance & Monitoring Board which would 
oversee and monitor the contract and the Chairman said that he would advise 
officers of the nominations in due course. 
 
The Cabinet had regard to the comments made by the Cabinet Advisory 
Panel, which had endorsed the recommendations contained in the report. 
 
 

RESOLVED: 
 

1. That Cabinet agrees to enter into a contract with Company A (as detailed in 
Exempt Appendix A) on terms to be agreed by the Head of Legal Services 
for all repairs and improvements to the housing stock for an initial period of 
5 years, from 1 April 2020, with the option to extend the contract for a 
further two 5 year periods, respectively, at year 5 (1 April 2025) and at year 
10 (1 April 2030). 

 
2. That an informal body, namely the Housing Maintenance & Monitoring 

Project Board, be established and responsible for ongoing oversight and 
monitoring of the contract and that membership of the Board, include three 
Councillors, politically balanced and officers. 

 
3. That the contract be reviewed on a yearly basis, by the Housing 

Maintenance & Monitoring & Project Board. 
 

 
53. PARKING CONSULTATION: WEST HILL WARD - PRIORY GARDENS  

 

Page 73 Agenda Item 16



CABINET 
THURSDAY 31 OCTOBER 2019 

 

6 

CHAIRMAN’S 

INITIALS 

The Cabinet considered a report which presented the outcome of the public 
consultation on the proposal to introduce a permit parking management 
scheme in Priory Gardens, West Hill Ward following a petition from residents 
of Priory Gardens complaining about inconsiderate on-street parking on the 
road and at the junction of Priory Hill. Possible options for managing the 
parking issues were put out to public consultation including the introduction of 
waiting restrictions and permit parking. Whilst a high proportion of 
respondents supported the introduction of a permit parking scheme, only 45% 
of all of the households in the affected area gave their support for the 
introduction of such a scheme which fell below the Council’s threshold 
whereby there would need to be support from the majority of the households 
in the area in order to introduce a scheme. There was also concern about 
possible parking displacement to neighbouring streets. There was very little 
support for introducing waiting restrictions to regulate parking times with 40% 
of households and 66.7% of respondents against the proposal. In view of this 
the Cabinet was asked not to introduce a parking management scheme. 
 
The Cabinet had regard to the comments made by the Cabinet Advisory 
Panel, which had endorsed the recommendations contained in the report, and 
noted that the Ward Members had also supported the recommendations. 
 

RESOLVED: 
 

1. That the Cabinet agree not to proceed with proposals consulted on in 
view of the outcome of consultation set out in paragraph 3.4; and 

 
2. That households within the consultation area be informed of the outcome 

of the consultation and Cabinet’s decision accordingly. 

 
54. PARKING CONSULTATION: WEST HILL WARD - SHEPHERDS LANE  

 
The Cabinet considered a report which detailed the outcome of the public 
consultation on proposals to extend the hours and days of operation of the 
existing permit parking scheme in Shepherds Lane following a request by 
some residents living opposite Dartford Grammar School for Boys to extend 
the existing permit scheme because more people were visiting the school 
premises and the Mick Jagger Centre beyond the school day which was 
reducing their ability to park close to their homes. The consultation looked at 
various options including extending the hours and days of operation, doing 
both or retaining the existing arrangements. The overall response rate was 
very high (81.3%) and, although the Council’s threshold of 50% or more 
households in an area being in favour of proposals for them to be introduced 
had not been achieved, a combined percentage of almost 47% of households 
had supported proposals to extend the days of operation into the weekend 
and/or to extend the hours of operation into the evening and the weekend. 
There were also concerns about the safety of school pupils due to reverse 
parking taking place at the end of the school day which had been raised by 
local Members. Given these special circumstances, and the particular 
concerns around school safety, it was therefore proposed to extend the days 
and hours of operation to Monday to Sunday from 9.30am to 8.00pm.  

Page 74Agenda Item 16



CABINET 
THURSDAY 31 OCTOBER 2019 

 
 

7 

CHAIRMAN’S 

INITIALS 

 
The Cabinet had regard to the comments made by the Cabinet Advisory 
Panel, which had endorsed the recommendations contained in the report, and 
noted that the Ward Members had also supported the recommendations. 
 
The Cabinet felt that whilst the 50% threshold had not been achieved it was 
important that each request for restrictions was considered on its merits. In 
this particular case, there had been a high response rate and the expanded 
hours during which events were held beyond the normal operating hours of 
the school, and with greater frequency, allied to the concerns about pupil 
safety, justified the extension of the existing scheme. 
 

RESOLVED: 
 

1. That the completion of the Traffic Regulation Order in accordance with 
paragraph 3.5 of the report and the implementation of the scheme be 
approved; and  

 
2. That households within the consultation area be informed of the outcome of 

the consultation and the applicable installations.  
 

55. UPGRADE OF THE HOUSING SERVICES INTEGRATED MANAGEMENT 
SYSTEM  
 
The Cabinet considered a report which described the options for upgrading 
the existing Housing Services Integrated Management System which was 
used to facilitate the delivery of housing services for the Council and the 
reasons why the current system needed to be replaced, the issues considered 
and the proposed action to be taken. The existing HSIMS provided by Capita 
would no longer be supported from 1 September 2020 and it was important 
that a replacement system was procured for this key operational system in 
good time or face the risk of significant disruption across the Housing Service 
with impacts on the collection of rents, managing repairs, the impact on 
managing expenditure and budgets and an inability to meet the Council’s 
obligations as a statutory housing authority.  Ordinarily such a complex and 
business critical system would require a minimum of 12 months to implement 
post procurement so it was felt that the optimum route to identify and appoint 
a supplier would be via an OJEU compliant procurement framework. Two 
suppliers had been evaluated and following an appraisal of the options it was 
recommended that the contract should be awarded to the current contractor 
Capita. Remaining with Capita would allow the current HSIMS functions to be 
migrated from Capita Housing to Capita One Housing individually, on a like for 
like basis. Capita had given an undertaking to continue to maintain the 
existing system until all the necessary modules of Capita One Housing could 
be implemented and the Council’s data successfully migrated to the new 
platform. This would remove the risk of any delay in implementation and allow 
for thorough testing of the new system. 
 
 

RESOLVED: 

Page 75 Agenda Item 16



CABINET 
THURSDAY 31 OCTOBER 2019 

 

8 

CHAIRMAN’S 

INITIALS 

 
That the Council upgrades its Housing Services Integrated Management 
System to the Capita One Housing IHMS platform, on terms to be agreed by 
the Head of Housing Services in consultation with the Head of Legal Services. 
 

56. REVENUE BUDGET MONITORING 2019/20  
 
The Cabinet considered a report which updated Members on financial 
performance against the 2019/20 budget for the General Fund and the 
Housing Revenue Account as at 30 September 2019. 
 
 RESOLVED: 
 
That Members note the overall level of spend and income for the year is 
expected to be within the parameters of the budget. 
 

57. CAPITAL PROGRAMME MONITORING 2019/20  
 
The Cabinet considered a report which detailed progress to date on the 
schemes in the approved Capital Programme for 2019/20 and reported the 
latest position on capital resources as at 30 September 2019. 
 
 RESOLVED: 
 
1. That progress to date on the 2019/20 Capital Programme be noted; and 
 
2. That the current position on the Capital Prudential Indicators, as shown in 

Appendix C to the report, be noted. 
 

58. TREASURY MANAGEMENT MID-YEAR REPORT 2019/20  
 
The Cabinet considered a report which detailed the investment performance 
of the Council’s internally and externally managed funds to 30 September 
2019 and to update the Treasury Indicators for the six months to 30 
September 2019. 
 
 

RESOLVED: 
 

1. That Cabinet notes the investment performance of the Council’s funds; and 
 

2. That the Cabinet notes the half-year position of the Council’s Treasury 
Indicators. 

 
59. APPOINTMENT OF A 4TH INDEPENDENT PERSON TO THE DEED, 

TRUST AND OBLIGATIONS COMMITTEE  
 
The Cabinet considered a recommendation that a 4th ‘Independent Person’ be 
appointed to serve on the Deed, Trust and Obligations Committee following a 
selection process culminating in an interview panel which met on 15th October 
2019 which recommended the appointment of Mr Ken Moore. The Chairman 

Page 76Agenda Item 16



CABINET 
THURSDAY 31 OCTOBER 2019 

 
 

9 

CHAIRMAN’S 

INITIALS 

confirmed that the interview panel had been impressed by Mr Moore’s 
commitment to the local environment and community and he welcomed the 
appointment. 
 

RESOLVED: 
 
That the appointment of Mr Ken Moore as the 4th Independent Member 
(voting co-optee to the Deed, Trust and Obligations Committee recommended 
by the interview panel held on 15th October 2019 be approved, for an initial 
period of one year and subsequently confirmed at the Annual Council 
meeting. 
 

60. MINUTES OF THE MEETING OF THE POLICY OVERVIEW HELD ON 10 
SEPTEMBER 2019  
 
The Cabinet received the minutes of the meeting of the Policy Overview 
Committee held on 10 September 2019. 
 

RESOLVED: 
 
That the minutes of the meeting of the Policy Overview Committee on 10 
September 2019 be noted. 
 

61. HOUSING REPAIRS AND MAINTENANCE CONTRACT - ACCEPTANCE 
OF TENDER - EXEMPT APPENDIX A  
(EXEMPT CATEGORY SO46(1)(B) ANNEX 1, PARAGRAPH 3)  
 

RESOLVED: 
 

That, following discussion of the main report (minute 52), Exempt Appendix A 
to the report be noted. 
 
 

The meeting closed at 7.32 pm 
 

  
 
 

Councillor J A Kite, MBE 
CHAIRMAN 

 
 

Page 77 Agenda Item 16



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 78



1 

CHAIRMAN’S 

INITIALS 

DARTFORD BOROUGH COUNCIL 
 

CABINET 
 

MINUTES of the meeting of the Cabinet held on Thursday 5 December 2019 at 7.00 
pm  

 
PRESENT: 
 

Councillor J A Kite, MBE (Chairman) 
Councillor C J Shippam (Vice-Chairman) 
Councillor Mrs A D Allen, MBE 
Councillor S H Brown 
Councillor A R Lloyd 
Councillor Mrs P A Thurlow 
Councillor R J Wells 
 

  
 

 
62. APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE  

 
There were no apologies for absence. 
 
The Cabinet noted the absence of the Managing Director due to ongoing ill-
health and sent their best wishes for a speedy recovery. 
 

63. DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST  
 
There were no declarations of interests. 
 

64. CONFIRMATION OF THE MINUTES OF THE CABINET MEETING HELD 
ON 31 OCTOBER 2019  
 

RESOLVED: 
 
That the minutes of the meeting of the Cabinet held on 31 October 2019 be 
confirmed as an accurate record. 
 

65. URGENT ITEMS  
 
There were no urgent items. 
 

66. TO RECEIVE THE MINUTES OF THE CABINET ADVISORY PANEL HELD 
ON 2ND DECEMBER 2019  
 
Members noted that the meeting of Cabinet Advisory Panel B on 2nd 
December 2019 had been cancelled as no items had been drawn down for 
discussion from Parts B, C and D of the agenda and there were no items in 
Part A of the agenda. 
 
The Chairman of the Advisory Panel had however raised a couple of issues 
with the Leader relating to item 7, Community Infrastructure Levy: Funding 
Review 2019, and these would be addressed during consideration of that 
item. 

Page 79 Agenda Item 16



CABINET 
THURSDAY 5 DECEMBER 2019 

 

2 

CHAIRMAN’S 

INITIALS 

 
67. REFERENCES FROM COMMITTEES  

 
There were no references from other committees. 
 

68. COMMUNITY INFRASTRUCTURE LEVY: FUNDING REVIEW 2019  
 
The Head of Regeneration introduced a report which set out an updated 
indicative five year programme of potential infrastructure projects that could 
be supported by the Community Infrastructure Levy (CIL), which had partially 
replaced s106 funding.  The report outlined the Five Year CIL rolling 
programme, progress made during the past year together with the Annual CIL 
Monitoring Report, an updated Infrastructure Delivery Plan (IDP) and details 
of current CIL receipts and forecasts.  
 
Appendix B to the report detailed the IDP which was divided into three 
sections. Part 1 of the IDP described the fully funded projects where funding 
was provided by s106 contributions or by funding from the Government and 
other agencies to undertake public realm and other works including Rivermill 
Primary School, the secondary school at Stone Lodge, the expanded 
junctions from the A2 at Bean and Ebbsfleet, and the improved junction at St 
Clements Way/London Road. Part 2 described projects that could potentially 
be enabled by CIL monies alongside other funding streams. These were 
primarily located in Dartford Town Centre and Stone and included: 
 

 Dartford Town Centre transport and public realm improvements 

 North of Dartford Town Centre – pedestrian/cycle bridge over 

the River Darent  

 Stone 2-Form Entry Primary School 

 1FE primary school extension and 0.5 school extension in the 

north and west part of the Borough 

 Dartford Town Centre Health and Well Being Hub 

 Stone/Greenhithe Primary Care facility 

 Darent Valley Path – improvements to river and riverside path 

and associated waymarking 

These projects were considered to be necessary to support development in 
the Borough and, on the information currently available, were likely to meet 
the CIL Assessment Criteria. These schemes had been progressed during the 
past year and officers would continue to work with partners to take them 
forward with progress being reported to Cabinet with CIL providing part of the 
funding along with funding streams from other partners. The final Part of the 
IDP detailed those schemes that were less advanced and which required 
more detail in terms of the proposal and timescale, such as the future 
expansion of Darent Valley hospital. The report also detailed the work of the 
Leader’s Advisory Group on CIL and the amount of CIL income distributed to 

Page 80Agenda Item 16



CABINET 
THURSDAY 5 DECEMBER 2019 

 
 

3 

CHAIRMAN’S 

INITIALS 

the Parishes and Town Council along with the amounts available to spend on 
projects in unparished areas.  
 
The Head of Regeneration explained that in March 2019 the income collected 
via CIL had amounted to £4.5M and that this had risen to £6.5M by 
December. Overall it was expected that £17.5M would be collected during the 
5 year period of the programme. The Leader of the Council said that the 
Chairman of CAP B had noted the accrual of CIL monies and asked when 
these would start to be used to fund projects. The Head of Regeneration 
explained that some of the proposed projects had lengthy gestation periods 
before they reached the point of development and that some of these were 
approaching the point where funding would need to be applied. She 
emphasised that the £17.5M was the projected amount of CIL that would be 
collected if the programme progressed as anticipated and that CIL money 
would be released as projects developed along with funding from other 
sources. The projects listed in Part 2 of the IDP provided an indicative delivery 
timetable. The Chairman of CAP B had also asked how the Town/Parish 
Councils had been spending the CIL monies allocated to them and whether 
there was a collaborative approach with the Council. The Head of 
Regeneration explained that a number of the CIL projects identified in the Five 
Year programme related to projects in Stone and that the Parish Council was 
fully aware of the expectation that they should apply their CIL funding to these 
projects as they moved forward. 
 
It was noted that CIL funding would be applied as necessary as projects 
moved forward and that there was confidence that all the projects could be 
funded and were not competing for the CIL funds. Progress on the proposed 
Dartford Town Centre Health Hub was discussed and it was noted that the 
CCG was keen to move forward and, given the lack of funding available from 
NHS England, the Council was working with the CCG to identify other funding 
steams and to define expected outcomes.     
 
It was noted that it may be possible to develop a project in and around 
Dartford Town Centre, implementing controlled parking for local residents 
using CIL funding for the unparished area.   
 

RESOLVED: 
 

1. That the CIL Indicative Five Year Programme as set out in Appendix A to 
the report, be agreed as a basis for ongoing liaison with relevant 
infrastructure providers and further development of the identified 
schemes; 

 
2. That, once individual projects within the Indicative Five Year Programme, 

attached at Appendix B to the report, are sufficiently progressed to 
demonstrate they are deliverable, further reports be submitted to Cabinet 
for decisions on  the CIL funding contribution towards them; and  

 

3.   That the CIL Monitoring Report, at Appendix C to the report, be agreed for 
publication. 

Page 81 Agenda Item 16



CABINET 
THURSDAY 5 DECEMBER 2019 

 

4 

CHAIRMAN’S 

INITIALS 

 
69. FINANCIAL CONTRIBUTIONS TO PARISH AND TOWN COUNCILS 

2020/21  
 
The Cabinet considered a report which detailed the proposed financial 
contributions to be made by the Council to Parish and Town Councils in 
2020/21 and the continuation of the Capacity Building Fund where Parishes 
could bid for funding on a competitive basis. Cabinet noted that the proposed 
financial contributions reflected the level of funds originally provided to the 
Council on the basis that these would be passed-on to the Parish Councils but 
that there would be no s136 funding going forward.  
 

RESOLVED: 
 

1. That the following contributions be made to Parish and Town Councils to 
compensate for lost council tax income in local areas for the introduction of 
the council tax support scheme: 

 
 

Parish/Town Council                £ 

Bean 334 

Darenth 1,923 

Longfield 631 

Southfleet 198 

Stone 7,021 

Sutton at Hone and Hawley 1,737 

Swanscombe and 
Greenhithe 14,435 

Wilmington 1,317 

 
2. That the contributions be made subject to the Parish and Town Councils 

submitting suitably analysed details of estimated net expenditure for the 
ensuing year by 31 January each year, and actual net expenditure for the 
preceding year no later than six months after the end of each financial year, 
in a format prescribed by the Council. 

 
3. That the payments be made in two equal instalments; the first on 30 April 

(or next working day) and the second, the latter of 30 September (or next 
working day) or seven days following receipt of the Parish or Town 
Councils’ 2019/20 accounts, certified as correct by their Clerks. 

 
4. That the Council continues to operate the Capacity Building Fund and 

makes a contribution of £40,000 into the fund in 2020/21 
 

5. That the Managing Director, in consultation with the Leader and Deputy 
Leader of the Council, be granted delegated authority to agree the Capacity 
Building Fund bidding criteria and approval of awards through a Grants 
Panel process. 

 

Page 82Agenda Item 16



CABINET 
THURSDAY 5 DECEMBER 2019 

 
 

5 

CHAIRMAN’S 

INITIALS 

70. WRITE OFF OF NATIONAL NON-DOMESTIC RATES  
 
The Cabinet considered a report which proposed writing-off National Non-
Domestic Rates debts where it had not been possible to obtain payment 
because of insolvency, or where the ratepayer could not be traced or the debt 
was otherwise irrecoverable. 
 

RESOLVED: 
 

That the sums shown in the revised Exempt Appendix A to the report, 
amounting to £523,312.09, be written-off as irrecoverable. 
 

71. REVENUE BUDGET MONITORING 2019/20 - PROJECTED OUTTURN AND 
2020/21 BUDGET PROCESS  
 
The Cabinet considered a report which presented the projected outturns on 
the General Fund and the Housing Revenue Account for 2019/20, detailed the 
reasons for significant variances and sought approval for the budget setting 
process for 2020/21. 
 
 RESOLVED: 
 

1. That the projected outturn position for the General Fund and the Housing 
Revenue Account for 2019/20 be noted; and 

 
2. That the Managing Director/Strategic Director (Internal Services) be 

granted delegated authority to determine and publish the 2020/21 draft 

budget, in consultation with the Leader of the Council and the Finance 

Portfolio Holder prior to the budget being presented to the General 

Assembly of the Council for approval in February 2020. 

 
72. CAPITAL BUDGET MONITORING 2019/20 - PROGRESS AND 

PROJECTED OUTTURN  
 
The Cabinet considered a report which detailed the progress to date on the 
schemes in the approved Capital Programme and the latest position on 
capital resources. 
 
 RESOLVED: 
 
That the Cabinet notes the progress made to date on the 2019/20 Capital 
Programme. 
 

73. JOINT TRANSPORTATION BOARD AGREEMENT WITH KENT COUNTY 
COUNCIL AND PARISH REPRESENTATION  
 
The Cabinet considered a report which described the proposed new 
agreement governing the work of the Joint Transportation Board (JTB) with 

Page 83 Agenda Item 16



CABINET 
THURSDAY 5 DECEMBER 2019 

 

6 

CHAIRMAN’S 

INITIALS 

Kent County council and that the Parish Council representation for 2019/20 
should be increased from one to two members.  
 

RESOLVED: 
 

1. That the Cabinet notes and endorses the new Joint Transportation Board 
agreement with Kent County Council and notes the increase in Parish 
representation for 2019/20; and 

 
2. That the new agreement be recommended to the General Assembly of the 

Council for adoption. 

 
74. CORPORATE PLAN - KEY ACTIONS AND PERFORMANCE INDICATORS 

MONITORING REPORT  
 
The Cabinet considered a report which provided details of the latest set of 
Corporate Plan key actions and performance indicators for the second quarter 
of 2019/20. 
 
 RESOLVED: 
 
That the contents of the key action and performance indicator monitoring 
reports attached at Appendices A and B to the report be noted. 
 

75. TO RECEIVE THE MINUTES OF THE MEETING OF THE STRATEGIC 
HOUSING BOARD HELD ON 16 OCTOBER 2019  
 
The Cabinet received the minutes of the meeting of the Strategic Housing 
Board held on 16 October 2019. The Leader of the Council explained that he 
had given the Board a specific remit that it was taking forward on a task and 
finish basis, including identifying categories of housing need, housing 
provision and client groups, and to produce a database that would enable 
anyone seeking to live in Dartford to easily access relevant information to help 
and assist them to do so.  This would follow a similar model to that previously 
undertaken to provide information for ‘Family Services’ which had proved very 
successful. Cabinet also discussed the particular housing needs of ex-
servicemen and their families and the help available to them. 
 
 RESOLVED: 
 
That the minutes of the meeting of the Strategic Housing Board held on 16 
October 2019 be noted. 
 

76. EXCLUSION OF THE PRESS AND PUBLIC  
 
 RESOLVED: 
 
That, under Section 100A(4) of the Local Government Act 1972 (as 
amended), the press and public be excluded from the meeting for the 

Page 84Agenda Item 16



CABINET 
THURSDAY 5 DECEMBER 2019 

 
 

7 

CHAIRMAN’S 

INITIALS 

following item of business on the grounds that it involves the likely disclosure 
of exempt information. 
 
No members of the press or public were present during discussion of the 
following item of business.  
 

77. WRITE-OFF OF NATIONAL NON-DOMESTIC RATES - EXEMPT 
APPENDIX A (EXEMPT CATEGORY SO 46(1)(B) ANNEX 1 PARAGRAPH 
3)  
 
Members discussed the background to specific cases, detailed in the revised 
Exempt Appendix A, where it was proposed to write-off of National Non-
Domestic Rates and sought clarification as to why enforcement measures had 
not been successful. Whilst the efforts of the Revenue Services team to 
pursue debt were fully recognised by the Cabinet it was felt that it might be 
appropriate to conduct a light touch review of the Council’s practices in the 
New Year to see whether any new approaches could be beneficial.  

 
RESOLVED: 
 

That, following discussion of the main report (minute 70), the revised Exempt 
Appendix A to the report be noted. 
 
 

The meeting closed at 7.39 pm 
 

  
 
 

Councillor J A Kite, MBE 
CHAIRMAN 

 

Page 85 Agenda Item 16



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 86Agenda Item 16


	Agenda
	4 Minutes
	11 Setting of the Council Tax Base for the Borough for 2020/21
	Appendix A Council Tax Base

	12 Financial  Contributions to Parish and Town Councils 2020/21
	Amended App A -Financial contributions to parish councils

	13 Report and Recommendations by the Independent Remuneration Panel
	Appendix A A REVIEW OF MEMBERS ALLOWANCES
	Appendix B Scheme of Members' Allowances 2020-21

	14 Joint Transportation Board Agreement with Kent County Council and Parish Representation
	15 Adoption of the International Holocaust Remembrance Alliance (IHRA) Working Definition of Antisemitism
	16 Reserved Minutes
	Minutes Public Pack, 05/12/2019 Cabinet
	Minutes



